RESOLUTION 2-21

FILED

DEC **2 3** 2020

Belinda Munson MUNCIE CITY CLERK

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUNCIE, INDIANA APPROVING A THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES AND COUNCIL 962 AFSCME LOCAL #3656

WHEREAS, a collective bargaining agreement has been reached between the City of Muncie and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees and Council 962 AFSME Local #3656, and,

WHEREAS, Council 962 AFSCME Local #3656 has been recognized as the labor organization selected by the majority of employees in the bargaining unit and has the exclusive right to bargain collectively on its members' behalf, and

WHEREAS, Section 37.10 of the Muncie City Code of Ordinances requires that the collective bargaining agreement and addendums to it be ratified by the Common Council of the City of Muncie, and,

WHEREAS, a true and accurate copy of the collective bargaining agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUNCIE, INDIANA as follows:

The Common Council of the City of Muncie hereby ratifies the collective bargaining agreement between the City of Muncie and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees and Council 962 AFSCME Local #3656.

This Resolution shall be in effect beginning after its passage by the Common Council, signature of the mayor or override of any veto.

Passed by the Common Council of the City of Muncie, Indiana, this day of January, 2021.

	Yeas	Nays	Abstained	Absent
Ralph Smith	V			
Jeff Robinson	/			
Ray Dudley				
Bradley Polk				
Jerry D. Dishman				
Anitra Davis				
Aaron Clark				

			,
			•

Troy A. Ingram
Ro Selvey
President City Council, City of Muncie
Presented by me to the Mayor for his approval, this Hayday of January, 2021.
Belinda Munson, City Clerk
The above Resolution is approved/vetoed by me this
Dan Ridenour, Mayor
ATTEST:
Belinda Munson, City Clerk
7
This Resolution is proposed by Council Member Sund Falk.
This Resolution is approved in form by Controller
This Resolution is approved in form by Legal Counsel And G. Evin

CITY OF MUNCIE, INDIANA

-AND-

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF
STATE, COUNTY AND
MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES
AND
COUNCIL 962 AFSCME LOCAL #3656

January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2023

Table of Contents

PREAMBLE	
AGREEMENT	4
ARTICLE ONE: RECOGNITION	4
ARTICLE TWO: UNION SECURITY	5
ARTICLE THREE: DEDUCTION OF DUES	7
ARTICLE FOUR: RECOGNITION OF CITY	8
ARTICLE FIVE: RECOGNITION OF AGREEMENT	10
ARTICLE SIX: PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES	10
ARTICLE SEVEN: SENIORITY	11
ARTICLE EIGHT: HOURS OF WORK	13
ARTICLE NINE: JOB CLASSIFICATIONS	14
ARTICLE TEN: TEMPORARY TRANSFERS	15
ARTICLE ELEVEN: JOB OPENINGS	16
ARTICLE TWELVE: AUTHORIZED UNION BUSINESS	17
ARTICLE THIRTEEN: COLLECTIVE BARGAINING	17
ARTICLE FOURTEEN: WAGES	18
ARTICLE FIFTEEN: SHIFT PREMIUM	18
ARTICLE SIXTEEN: OVERTIME	18
ARTICLE SEVENTEEN: CALL-OUT P AY	19
ARTICLE EIGHTEEN: LONGEVITY ALLOWANCE	20
ARTICLE NINETEEN: HOLIDAYS	21
ARTICLE TWENTY: VACATION	21
ARTICLE TWENTY-ONE: PERSONAL DAYS	23
ARTICLE TWENTY-TWO: PAID EXTENDED SICK LEAVE	25
ARTICLE TWENTY-THREE: UNPAID EXTENDED SICK LEAVE	29
ARTICLE TWENTY-FOUR: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	31
ARTICLE TWENTY-FIVE: JURY DUTY LEAVE OF ABSENCE	32
ARTICLE TWENTY-SIX: WITNESS LEAVE OF ABSENCE	33
ARTICLE TWENTY-SEVEN: MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE	33
ARTICLE TWENTY-EIGHT: SPECIAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE	34
ARTICLE TWENTY-NINE: PERSONAL TIME OFF FOR EDUCATION	35
ARTICLE THIRTY: INSURANCE	37
ARTICLE THIRTY-ONE: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT FUND	41

ARTICLE THIRTY-TWO: DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	41
ARTICLE THIRTY-THREE: GRIEVANCES	44
ARTICLE THIRTY-FOUR: ARBITRATION	
ARTICLE THIRTY-FIVE: LAYOFF	47
ARTICLE THIRTY-SIX: RECALL	49
ARTICLE THIRTY-SEVEN: SAFETY	49
ARTICLE THIRTY-EIGHT: UNION REPRESENTATIVES	50
ARTICLE THIRTY-NINE: EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	51
ARTICLE FORTY: NON-DISCRIMINATION	51
ARTICLE FORTY-ONE: EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE	52
ARTICLE FORTY-TWO: CLOTHING AND TOOLS	53
ARTICLE FORTY-THREE: FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)	
ARTICLE FORTY-FOUR: LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	56
ARTICLE FORTY-FIVE: MISCELLANEOUS	
ARTICLE FORTY-SIX: TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT	58
ARTICLE FORTY-SEVEN: SEVERANCE BENEFITS	58

CITY OF MUNCIE, INDIANA -ANDAFSCME

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is entered into by the City of Muncie, Indiana (hereinafter referred to as the City) and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees and Council 962, Local 3656 (hereinafter referred to as the Union).

It is the purpose of this Agreement to maintain a harmonious relationship between the City and the Union, to provide for equitable and peaceful adjustment of differences, which may arise, and to establish wages, hours, and other conditions of employment.

The City and the Union recognize that it is in the best interest of parties, the employees, and the public that all dealings between them continue to be characterized by mutual responsibility and respect. To insure that this relationship continues and improves, the City and the Union and their respective representatives at all levels will apply the terms of this Agreement fairly in accord with its intent and meaning and consistent with the Unions status as the exclusive bargaining representative of all employees in the bargaining unit. Each party shall bring to the attention of the employees in the bargaining unit, including new hires, their purpose to conduct themselves in a spirit of responsibility and respect and the measures they have agreed upon to insure adherence to the purpose.

The City will introduce new hires to the union representative on the job.

AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the CITY OF MUNCIE, INDIANA, hereinafter called "the City."

-and-

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES AND COUNCIL 962. LOCAL 3656, hereinafter called "the Union."

ARTICLE ONE: RECOGNITION

<u>Section 1.01Recognition</u>. The City hereby recognizes the Union as the exclusive collective bargaining representative of the City's full-time employees as defined in Sections 1.02 and 1.03 hereof, for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment

<u>Section 1.02 Bargaining Unit.</u> The bargaining unit shall consist of all full-time employees of the City of Muncie, but excluding confidential, supervisory, and exempt employees defined as follows:

 City Initial:
 DR
 4
 Union Initial:
 U

- a) The term confidential shall mean any employee whose unrestricted access to confidential personnel files or whose functional responsibilities or knowledge in connection with the issues involved in dealings between the City and its employees would make her/his membership in an employee organization incompatible with official duties. "Confidential" employees shall include, but is not limited to, the Mayor's Secretary and City Clerk's employees, Clerks of the Court, Police Chief's Secretary, and Fire Chief's Secretary.
- b) The term "supervisor" shall mean any individual having authority in the interest of City to hire, transfer, suspend, layoff, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or discipline other employees, or responsibility to direct them to or to adjust their grievances, or effectively to recommend such action, if in connection with the foregoing of the exercise of such authority is not of a merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment. "Supervisor" shall include, but is not limited to, all supervisors, Managers, department heads, and assistant department heads.
- c) The term "exempt shall mean any employee who is exempt from the minimum wage and overtime pay requirements of the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act. This term also applies to any full-time employee whose wages are funded solely out of grant money. The terms "employee" and "employees" as used in this Agreement mean only those employees of the City who are in the bargaining unit defined above.

<u>Section 1.03 Categories of Employment.</u> For purposes of this Agreement, employees are hereby classified into the following categories:

- a) <u>Full-Time Employee</u>. A full-time employee is one who is regularly scheduled to work for forty (40) or more hours per work week and who is not a temporary employee.
- b) <u>Part-Time Employee</u>. A part-time employee is one who is regularly scheduled to work for less than forty (40) hours per work week and who is not a temporary employee.
- c) <u>Temporary Employee</u>. A temporary employee is one who is hired for a specific project, a specific period of time, or to replace an employee on leave of absence, and whose employment will automatically terminate at the end of that project, period of time or other employees return to work.

<u>Section 1.04 Part-Time and Temporary Employees.</u> Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, which could be, construed to the contrary, part-time and temporary employees shall not be included as employees for any purpose under this Agreement.

<u>Section 1.05 New Classifications.</u> Any and all new job classifications in the bargaining unit shall be subject to the applicable terms and conditions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE TWO: UNION SECURITY

Section 2.01 Open Shop. Membership in the Union is voluntary, and joining the Union is not a condi	tion
of employment. After completion of the one hundred eighty (180) day probationary period, employees because	ome
eligible for Union membership and may elect to join or not to join the Union. However, any eligible emplo	yee

City Initial: DR Union Initial: \(\bar{\mathbb{U}}\) Date: \(\bar{\mathbb{U}}\) Date: \(\bar{\mathbb{U}}\)

who voluntarily becomes a member of the Union shall remain a member for the duration of this Agreement, except it is understood that any such employee may withdraw his/her membership at any time during the sixty (60) calendar day period immediately prior to the expiration date of this Agreement.

<u>Section 2.02 Representation Fee.</u> Each bargaining unit employee who is not a member of the Union shall pay a representation fee to the Union. The fee obligation shall commence on:

- a) The effective date of this Agreement for all current employees who have been employed for more than ninety (90) days.
- b) The ninety-first (91st) calendar day of employment for all current employees who have not completed ninety (90) calendar days of employment as of the effective date of this Agreement.
- c) The ninety-first (91st) calendar day of employment for each employee hired after the effective date of this Agreement.

Representation fees shall be paid by automatic payroll deduction. Employees shall sign a representation fee authorization for payroll deduction permitting such deduction. This authorization may be revoked by the employee at any time upon written notice. Representation fee payroll deductions and transmittals shall be made in the same manner provided herein for dues deductions. The employer shall provide the Union an alphabetical list of the names of each employee on whose account a representation fee was deducted during the previous month including the amount of the deduction.

Both the Employer and the Union intend that this Article be lawful in every respect. If any court of last resort determines any provisions of this section is illegal, that provision alone shall be void. Invalidation of any provision of this section does not invalidate the remaining provisions.

Section 2.03 No Intimidation or Coercion.

- a) <u>By the City.</u> The City agrees that neither it nor any of its officers, supervisors, or agents will attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any employee into membership or non-membership in the Union or because of the employee's membership or non-membership in the Union.
- b) <u>By the Union.</u> The Union agrees that neither it nor any of its officers, agents, or members will or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any employee into membership or non-membership in the Union or because of the employee's membership or non-membership in the Union.
- c) <u>By an Employee.</u> No employee shall intimidate, threaten or coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any employee into membership or non-membership in the Union or because of the employee's membership or non-membership in the Union.
- d) Interpretation. The provisions of this Section 2.02 shall not be construed or interpreted as prohibiting the City, the Union or an employee from stating and explaining to any employee or employees in a courteous manner the advantages or disadvantages of Union membership and legal requirements applicable to the payment, tender or use of Union dues or initiation fees.

The Union shall provide in writing to the City Controller, within thirty (30) calendar days prior to the expiration of this Agreement, a listing of all employees who are members, prior to the contract ending date.

6

City Initial: <u>D</u>人

Date: 147

Union In

Union Initial: 18

Section 2.04 Indemnification. The Union shall indemnify and save harmless the City against any and all suits, claims, demands, liabilities, expenses (including attorney fees and court costs incurred by the City) that arise out of or by reason of any action taken by the Union for the purpose of inclusion or enforcement of this maintenance of membership clause.

ARTICLE THREE: DEDUCTION OF DUES

Section 3.01 Deduction of Dues. Upon receipt of a written, personally signed authorization form from a full-time employee who elects to pay dues to the Union pursuant to Article Three of this Agreement, the City shall deduct the dues and initiation fee payable to the Union from the wages due the employee. Such deductions shall be made monthly from the pay due to the employee on the first payday of each calendar month beginning with the first such pay period following the receipt by the City of the written authorization from the employee. By separate document, the City and the Union have agreed to the form and content of the authorization form to be used by employees for this purpose. The Union and the employee may change the amount of the initiation fee or monthly dues to be withheld from the employee's wages by sending written notice signed by the employee to the City not less than fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the date of payment of wages from which the amount is to be deducted.

Section 3.02 Insufficient Wages. The City shall not be obligated to make any dues deductions of any kind from any full-time employee who, during any pay period involved, shall have failed to receive sufficient wages to equal the deductions required by law (including any garnishment or similar Court order), and the normal dues and initiation fee deduction. When sufficient wages are not available, after allowing for deductions required by law (including garnishment or similar court order), no dues or initiation fee deduction shall occur for that pay period. If in any pay period sufficient wages are not so available for deduction of the normal dues and initiation fee deduction, the union dues and initiation fee shall be deducted in the next pay period in which sufficient wages do exist.

Section 3.03 Termination of Dues Deduction. The City shall be relieved from making such dues and initiation fee deductions from an employee upon: (a) termination of his/her employment; (b) his/her transfer or promotion to a position other than one covered by this Agreement; (c) his/her assumption of part-time or temporary employee status; (d) his/her layoff from work; or (e) his/her being on unpaid leave of absence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the return to work of the employee from any of the foregoing enumerated absences, the City will resume the obligation of making said deductions, with the exception of, there shall be no deductions for terminated employees, for employees who assume part-time or temporary employee status or for employees who are transferred or promoted to a position other than one covered by this Agreement.

Section 3.04 Sending Dues to Union. Each calendar month, the City shall remit to the Union all deductions of dues made from the wages of employees the preceding calendar month together with a list of the names of all employees for whom such deductions were made. The deducted dues and list shall be sent to: AFSCME Council 62, 1424 North Pennsylvania, and Indianapolis, Indiana.

Section 3.05 Duplicate Payment. In cases where a deduction is made which duplicates a payment already made to the Union by an employee, or where a deduction is not in conformity with the provisions or this Agreement or the Union Constitution or Bylaws, the Union shall promptly refund the amount to the employee.

City Initial:	DR
Date: 12	[7

7

Union Initial: 18

The City shall not be liable to the Union by reason of the requirements of this Article Three for the deduction, remittance, or payment of ay sum other than that constituting an actual deduction made from an employee's wages earned.

<u>Section 3.06 Indemnification</u>. The Union shall indemnify and save harmless the City against any and all suits, claims, demands, liabilities and expenses (including attorney fees and any court expenses incurred by the City) that arise out of or by reason of any action taken by the City for the purpose of attempting to comply with the provisions of this Article Three.

Section 3.07 People. The employer agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee who is a member of the Union, a People deduction as provided for in a written authorization. Such authorization must be executed by the employee and may be revoked by the employee at any time by giving written notice to the employer. The employer agrees to remit any deductions made pursuant to this provision promptly to the Union, together with an itemized statement showing the names of each employee from whose pay such deductions have been made and the amount deducted during the period covered by remittance.

ARTICLE FOUR: RECOGNITION OF CITY

Section 4.01 General. Except as expressly modified by a specific provision of this Agreement, all the authority, rights and powers which the City had prior to the signing of this Agreement and prior to the inception of any relationship, legal or other, between the City and the Union and the City and Its employees are retained by the City and remain exclusively and without limitation the rights of the City and shall not be subject to the parties grievance and arbitration procedure. Only express modifications contained in specific provisions of this Agreement constitute limitations upon such authority, rights and powers. Only those express modifications are subject to the parties' grievance and arbitration procedure. No provision or group of provisions of this Agreement and no relationship between the parties shall be construed to constitute or create any implied limitations on such authority, rights or powers of the City.

Section 4.02 Specific Rights. Examples of the authority, rights and powers which are hereby vested in the City, with only such modifications as may be expressly stated in a specific provision of this Agreement, include, but are not limited to. The following: the right to schedule, adjust and assign work and hours to employees; to direct and control the workforce; to assign and require overtime work; to determine the quantity and type of equipment to be used; to hire, promote and lay off employees; to discipline or discharge employees for just cause; to discharge probationary employees, temporary employees or part-time employees for any reason whatsoever; to utilize drug and/or alcohol screening of employees for alcohol, controlled substances, narcotics ad prescription drugs where the City has a reasonable suspicion and to utilize such screening for applicants for employment; to utilize searches of employees lockers, lunch boxes, purses, packages and similar containers for alcohol, controlled substances, narcotics ad prescription drugs whenever the City has reasonable suspicion; to determine the work to be done by the City's employees; to determine the job descriptions of City employees; to determine the location of facilities; to determine the size and composition of the workforce including the number of employees assigned to any particular department or job; to determine the amounts and kind of supervision necessary or desirable; to temporarily shut down City operations or a portion thereof; to establish or change work rules and safety standards, provided such rules and standards are not arbitrary or capricious; the establishment. maintenance and change of standards of quality and of performance; the determination of employee qualifications, ability and competency; the determination of the duties to be included in any job; and, to determine the creation, continuance, termination, change or consolidation of jobs or departments or of partial or total operations.

8

City Initial:

Date: 12/7

Union Initia

Union Initial: _\B____ Date: _\246___

If the City does not exercise rights inserted to it, or if it exercises such rights in a particular way it shall not be deemed a waiver of the City's right to exercise such rights or of the City's right to exercise such rights in other ways not in conflict with the express terms of a specific provisions of this Agreement.

Section 4.03 Recognition of Employees Legal Rights. In addition to the other rights expressly granted an employee under this Agreement, the City expressly recognizes the legal rights of all of its employees, including, without limitation, an employee's right to free speech, to protection under the Federal Polygraph Protection Act, to review their personnel file and other rights granted under the United States Constitution and the Indiana Constitution.

Section 4.04 Contracting Out. The City may contract out work in the event:

- The work cannot be done economically, expeditiously or capably by bargaining unit employee, a)
- The City does not base the equipment or facilities to perform the work. b)

Within ten (10) working days of the tentative decision of the City, the Mayor shall: inform AFSCME a District Council 962 and Local No. 3656 of the City's decision, in writing.

Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the City's notice by the Union, representatives of the District, the Local and the Mayor, and/or his designees, shall meet and negotiate issues related to the City's tentative decision. Following this negotiation between the parties, the Mayor may declare a bargaining impasse.

The City shall submit any subcontracted work to a public bidding process and will afford the Union and employees all opportunities to participate in the bidding for any such work.

The City shall within ten (10) working days of:

- 1) The Unions notice that it does not wish to submit a bid proposal; or
- The award of any bargaining unit work to a subcontractor, whichever event comes first, 2) negotiate the effects of the decision to contract out such work upon bargaining unit employees.

Section 4.05 Successors. This section 4.05 shall be binding upon all successors, contractors, or subcontractors to the extent permissible by applicable law.

Successors, contractors, or subcontractors shall be required to give preferential hiring consideration to employees holding positions covered by contracts entered into within the City. Any employees not selected for hire by said successors, contractors, or subcontractors shall be given the option to exercise contractual bumping rights pursuant to Article Thirty-Five, or to undergo training by the City at no expense to the employee for positions currently open or available in the bargaining unit, or positions which become open and available following election of the employees option during the period of the employees layoff, unless otherwise mutually agreed to between the Mayor and AFSCME Council 62.

City Initial: DA

Date: 12/1

Union Initial: NS

Date: 246

9

ARTICLE FIVE: RECOGNITION OF AGREEMENT

Section 5.01 Complete Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties. Unless expressly stated to the contrary elsewhere in this Agreement, or as required by law, the City and the Union, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to bargain collectively, with respect to any subject or matter referred to or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement. This Agreement may, however, be modified by mutual agreement of the parties, provided, that all such modifications are in writing and properly executed. Any amendments shall be numbered, dated and signed by the parties and shall be subject to all provisions of this Agreement.

Section 5.02 Prior Agreement; Past Practices. This Agreement supersedes and voids all prior agreements, if any, written or oral, or established by custom, practice or precedent. Further, this Agreement supersedes any work practices or work rules in conflict with the specific provisions of this Agreement. The City agrees to meet with the Union before implementing any new work practice or work rule or changing or abolishing any work practice or work rule, prior to implementation; provided, however, the City reserves the right to make the final decision.

Section 5.03 No Interruption. Because the services performed by the employees covered by this Agreement are essential to the administration and the public welfare, the Union and each employee, individually or collectively, will not during the life of this Agreement encourage, cause, condone, support or take part in any strike, including a sympathy strike. The term "strike" includes any work stoppage, work interruption, work interference, slowdown, sickout, sit-down, sympathy strike, alleged unfair labor practice strike, picketing (informational or otherwise), boycott, refusal to cross picket lines, or any other activity or attempt at activity which could interrupt, interfere with, or limit the performance of services by any employee or by the City, whether at the City's primary facility or any other location. The City will not engage in a lockout during the term of this Agreement.

The City shall have the right to discipline (including discharge) any employee who instigates, participates in, or gives leadership to an action which is in violation of this Section 5.03.

Section 5.04 Union Responsibility in Case of Interruption. In the intent of a work stoppage or any other interference with the City's business in violation of Section 5.03 of this Agreement, the Union immediately upon being notified of the violation shall exert its best efforts in good faith through its appropriate officers and representatives to cause the employees involved to return to work and to cease the interference and shall inform the City of the action taken by the Union.

ARTICLE SIX: PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

Section 6.01 Probationary Employees. An employee hired as a full-time employee shall be recognized as a probationary employee for the first year of one hundred and eighty (180) days beginning with the first day of work after being last hired as a full-time employee in the bargaining unit. Any calendar day on which the employee is on layoff, on disciplinary suspension, or is absent from work shall not count as one (1) of the days of the employee's probationary period (e.g. if an employee is laid off for five (5) calendar days during this

10

City Initial:

Union Initial: N3

Date: 126

probationary period, this probationary period shall automatically be extended for an additional five (5) calendar days).

A probationary employee shall be subject to quarterly evaluations by the employee's supervisor to determine if the employee qualifies to be recognized as a non-probationary employee following the employee's first year of employment. This probation will neither affect the employee's health insurance coverage qualifications nor any other benefits entitled to the employee.

A full-time employee serves only one (1) probationary period even though the employee may change departments within the bargaining unit. However, if an employee's full-time employment within the city terminates for any reason and the employee is rehired as a full-time employee at a later time, the employee will serve a new probationary period from the date of rehire as a full-time employee in the bargaining unit (the date of "last hire"). During the 6-month probationary period, the employee may be discharged for any reason.

Section 6.02 Effect of Probationary Status. During the full-time employee's probationary period, the employee shall be covered by the provisions of this Agreement except that at any time during the probationary period, the City may discipline or discharge the employee for any reason the City deems sufficient. Discipline or discharge of a probationary employee shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. In addition, during the probationary period, the probationary employee shall not be entitled to use any vacation days, sick days, extended sick days (paid or unpaid) or personal days. In the event a probationary employee requires unpaid time off, the employee may request such time in accordance with the provisions of Article Twenty-Eight. A probationary employee may not bid on any new jobs within the bargaining unit until the employee has completed his/her probationary period.

ARTICLE SEVEN: SENIORITY

Section 7.01 General.

- a) <u>Kinds of Seniority</u>. Full-time employees shall accrue two (2) kinds of seniority: (1) City-wife Seniority; and (2) Department Seniority.
- b) <u>City-Wide Seniority</u>. City-wife Seniority is defined as all continuous full-time employment in a bargaining unit position beginning on the last date on which the full-time employee began to work as a full-time employee in a bargaining unit position with the following exception: in the event a full-time employee in a bargaining unit position accepts a non-bargaining unit position, and he/she returns to a bargaining unit position within twelve (12) calendar months following such transfer, the employee shall retain his/her previous City-wide seniority. City-wide Seniority shall not accrue in a non-bargaining unit position.
- c) <u>Department Seniority: Department</u>. Department Seniority is defined as all continuous full-time employment in any department at the City beginning on the last date on which the employee began to work as a full-time employee in a bargaining unit position within the Department with the following exceptions: (i) in the event a full-time employee in a bargaining unit position is transferred to a non-bargaining unit position, and he/she returns to a bargaining unit position within twelve (12) calendar months following such transfer, the employee shall retain his/her previous Department seniority in all departments where the employee has worked; or (ii) in the event a full-time bargaining unit employee is transferred to another bargaining unit position

City Initial: $\overline{\mathcal{D}\mathcal{K}}$	11	Union Initial: W
Date: 12/7		Date: 17/6

within another Department said employee's seniority in the former Department shall be frozen. Department-wide Seniority shall not accrue in a non-bargaining unit position. The term "department" throughout this Agreement shall mean the Controller's Office, Building Commissioner's Office, Animal Shelter, Police Department (Civilian), Fire Department (Civilian), Department of Parks and Recreation, Street Department, and Beech Grove Cemetery.

Section 7.02 Existing Employees. For full-time employees employed by the City on the effective date of this Agreement, the parties by separate memorandums have agreed to each such employee's applicable and relative City-wide Seniority and Department Seniority as of the effective date of this Agreement.

Section 7.03 Termination of Seniority and Employment.

- a) City-Wide Seniority: Department Seniority: Employment. A full-time employees City-Wide Seniority, Department Seniority and employment shall terminate for any of the following reasons:
- 1) If the employee resigns:
- 2) If the employee is discharged for just cause or otherwise in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;
- 3) The employee fails to report to work on the date stated at the time of layoff or in a notice of recall which notice shall be received by the employee no later than seven (7) working days before the date the employee is required to return to work;
- 4) If an employee has the following amount of seniority and is on long-term layoff for the following period of time:

City-Wide Seniority as a Full-Time Employee	Laid off for the Following Period
Less than two (2) years City-Wide Seniority	Six (6) months
Two (2) years up to five (5) years of City-Wide Seniority	Twelve (12) months
Greater than five (5) years of City-Wide Seniority	Eighteen (18) months

- 5) If an employee fails to report to work for two (2) or more consecutive workdays, without reporting off;
- If the employee fails to report to work after a leave of absence (paid or unpaid) expires; or 6)
- 7) If the employee fails to report to work after a leave of absence (paid or unpaid) has been disapproved or revoked.
 - b) City-Wide Seniority: Department Seniority. In addition to the reasons stated in this Section 7.03, a full-time employees City-Wide Seniority and Department Seniority shall terminate in the event the employee: (1) transfers or is promoted to a position other than one covered by this Agreement and fails to return to a bargaining unit position within 12 months following the promotion or transfer; or (2) assumes part-time or temporary employee status.

City Initial: 10 /

Union Initial: WS

Date: 12/6

Section 7.04 Breaking Ties. Where two (2) or more full-time employees have equal City-Wide Seniority or Department Seniority at the time the seniority must be determined, the seniority order of such employees shall be determined by the last four (4) digits of their Social Security number (highest number most senior). Once such employee's relative seniority is thus determined, t hose employees shall retain that relative position on the respective seniority list until the seniority is broken through differing accrual or termination of the seniority or of employment.

Section 7.05 Seniority Lists.

- City-Wide Seniority List. A City-Wide Seniority list stating the name of each full-time employee (a) in the bargaining unit and for each employee the date of last hire as a full-time employee in the bargaining unit shall be prepared by the City and shall be posted by the Union representative or his designee on the Union bulletin board(s) within each department. These lists shall be updated by the City upon request, but no more than four (4) times per calendar year.
- Department Seniority List. A department seniority list, stating for each department the name of each full-time employee in the job classification and for each employee the date of last hire in the department, shall be prepared by the City. These lists shall be updated by the City upon request, but no more than four (4) times per calendar year.
- Reporting Alleged Errors. In the event an employee believes the list as posted is in error, the employee must grieve the error within the time period stated in Section 33.02; failure to grieve within that time period shall be deemed to be agreement as to the accuracy of the information on the list as posted and the City may conclusively rely on that information.

Section 7.06 Definition of "Year of Seniority". As used in this Agreement the phrase "year of seniority" means three hundred sixty-five (365) days of seniority.

Section 7.07 Use of Seniority.

- City-Wide Seniority. City-Wide Seniority shall be used to determine an employee's probationary a) period and otherwise as set forth in this Agreement.
- Department Seniority. Department Seniority shall be used as necessary to determine layoffs b) within a Department as required by Article Thirty-Five and recall rights on layoff as required by Article Thirty-Six.

Section 7.08 Length of Service. Length of service means all continuous service with the City as a fulltime employee commencing with the date on which the employee began to work as a full-time employee after being last hired. Length of service as a full-time employee terminates upon termination of the employee's employment as a full-time employee with the City. Longevity pay and vacation time shall be based on full-time employment with the City.

ARTICLE EIGHT: HOURS OF WORK

City Initial: DK Date: 127

13

Union Initial: 12/6

<u>Section 8.01 General.</u> Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or per workweek or of days of work per workweek. The City will make reasonable efforts to provide to full-time employees eight (8) hours work per day and forty (40) hours work per week. "Hours work" shall include paid breaks, as well as hours actually worked, and **includes** all other paid time off.

Section 8.02 Workweek: Payday.

- a) Workweek. The workweek is Sunday through Saturday. The normal workweek for full-time employees is eight (8) hours per day, five (5) days per workweek.
- b) <u>Payday</u>. The pay period is two (2) weeks, beginning on Sunday and ending on the Saturday two (2) weeks later. Employees are paid every other Friday for wages earned during the preceding pay period.
- c) <u>Time Cards</u>. Each employee is responsible for punching their own time card at the appropriate time clock. Time cards must be reviewed and approved by the employee's department head or his/her designee.

Section 8.03 Break and Meal Periods. Full-time employees shall receive a paid meal period of one (1) hour during a shift lasting at least eight (8) hours. Full-time employees shall also receive two (2) paid breaks of ten (10) minutes each during a shift lasting at least eight (8) hours. An employee must clock in and out for their meal periods when time clocks are available in the Department. Any shift lasting 12 hours or longer will require an additional half-hour break.

The time during which the break periods and meal periods are to be taken is to be established from time to time by the employee's immediate supervisor.

<u>Section 8.04 Shifts.</u> Each department head may establish shifts within his or her department as necessary. Shift hours may vary from season to season.

<u>Section 8.05 Shift Posting.</u> The City agrees to make reasonable efforts to notify employees at least seven (7) calendar days before the start of a new work schedule.

<u>Section 8.06 Call-Out.</u> The City may call out employees to work at times other than the employees regularly scheduled shift if it is necessary for the efficient operation of the City.

ARTICLE NINE: JOB CLASSIFICATIONS

Section 9.01 General. The job classifications established in Section 9.02, below, are for the purposes of establishing rates of pay, qualifications to perform the work required of a particular job classification, job posting and short-term and long-term layoff. The establishment of such job classifications shall not be interpreted or construed, in any way, as restricting the rights of the City as set forth in Article Five of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the rights to determine the continuance or termination of jobs or operations to determine the type of equipment to be used, and to determine job descriptions. The usual duties included in any job classification shall not in any way be construed as a requirement that only the employees in that job classification are permitted to perform, or to assist in the performance, of the usual duties of that job classification or that an

City Initial: $\frac{1}{2}$ Union Initial: $\frac{1}{2}$ Date: $\frac{1}{2}$

employee may not be required to perform, or to assist in the performance, of the duties of another job classification. Subject to Article Ten (Temporary Transfers), any employee in any job classification may be assigned to perform, or to assist in the performance of any of the duties of another job classification.

Section 9.02 Job Classification. When the City wishes to create new positions or reclassify current positions within the bargaining unit, the City will provide the Union with a copy of such proposed changes at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to implementation of the proposed changes. The Union shall have ten (10) calendar days within which to review and comment on the proposed modifications as to job requirements and wage scale. Should the Union disagree with the proposed job requirements and/or wage rate, a conference between the appropriate representative of the City and the Union shall be convened to discuss the matter.

ARTICLE TEN: TEMPORARY TRANSFERS

Section 10.01 Temporary Transfers. The City may temporarily transfer an employee to another job classification. A transfer shall be considered to be temporary if it is for a period not to exceed ninety (90) consecutive calendar days or less. Provided however, in the event the purpose of the temporary transfer is to fill a vacancy left an employee being on extended sick leave, then in such an event the temporary transfer may be for a period not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) consecutive calendar days or less. The Union shall be notified within five (5) days of the effective date of a temporary transfer. Being assigned to assist or to help an employee in another job classification for a period of time not to exceed one (1) day does not constitute a temporary transfer to that other job classification. Temporary transfers shall be made in increments of not less than one (1) day.

Section 10.02 Pay During Temporary Transfer.

- a) <u>Full-Time Employees Who Have Completed Their Probationary Period</u>. If a full-time employee who has completed his/her probationary period is temporarily transferred to a job classification paying a lower job rate of pay than his/her regular job classification, he/she will continue to receive the job rate of pay of his/her regular job classification for the duration of the temporary transfer.
 - If a full-time employee who has completed his/her probationary period is temporarily transferred to a job classification paying a higher job rate of pay than his/her regular job classification, he/she will receive the job rate of pay of the job classification to which he/she is so transferred for the duration of the temporary transfer.
- b) <u>Full-Time Employees Who have Not Completed Their Probationary Period</u>. A full-time employee who has not completed his/her probationary period who has been temporarily transferred to another job classification will continue to receive the hire-in rate of pay of his/her regular job classification for the duration of the temporary transfer during the term of his/her probationary period. After the expiration of said probationary period, Section 10.02(a) shall apply.

<u>Section 10.03 Accrual of Department Seniority.</u> A full-time employee who is temporarily transferred to another Department will continue to accrue Department Seniority in his/her regular Department for the duration of the temporary transfer rather than in the Department to which he/she is temporarily transferred.

City Initial:	15	Union Initial: 🔼
Date: 12/7		Date: 12/6

ARTICLE ELEVEN: JOB OPENINGS

Section 11.01 Posting Full-Time Job Openings. Whenever the City, in its sole discretion, determines a full-time job opening exists in a bargaining unit job classification, the City shall post a written notice of the opening within the City for a period of three (3) workdays to give City employees the first opportunity to apply for the job. Employees who want to apply for the posted job must complete a Job Interest form and submit it to the City's personnel office within the three (3) workday posting period. Job Interest forms may be obtained from the City personnel office. The City shall provide the Union President with a copy of each job posting when it occurs. Vacancies or newly-created positions within the bargaining unit shall be posted when they occur in the Personnel Department and in all other City Departments. A "workday" is defined as an eight-hour shift specific to each department. For example, a written notice for a job opening in the Department of Public Works will be posted from 7 a.m. until 3 p.m. (their normal workday) for three business days whereas, a written notice for a job opening in the Human Resources Department will be posted from 8 a.m. to 4 p.m. (their normal workday) for three business days.

Each written notice for a job opening will include the telephone, facsimile, and email address information for the Human Resources Department. This contact information is to allow a means for interested persons to contact the Human Resources Department with questions about the open position, the application, or Job Interest form process. It does not take the place of submitting the interested person's completed and signed application or Job Interest form to the Human Resources Department for consideration. Submission of completed application or Job Interest form may be accomplished by hand delivery, mailing, faxing or emailing the Human Resources Department.

Section 11.02 Award of Job. The posted job shall be awarded to the full-time employee within the Department who meets the qualifications for the position. In the event two (2) employees are equally qualified for the job, as determined by the City, the full-time employee with the most Department Seniority shall be awarded the posted job. In the event no such qualified employee exists within the Department, then the full-time employee within the City who meets the qualifications for the position shall be awarded the job. If two (2) employees are equally qualified for the job as determined by the City in its sole discretion, the full-time employee with the most City-Wide Seniority will be awarded the job. To be qualified, the employee must have qualifications, education, work experience, training, skills, licenses, certificates, ability, competency, and other job-related requirements, such as good judgment or ability to work with other people, to perform the job in a satisfactory level as determined by the Personnel Director. The employee's work record with the City, such as performance evaluations and disciplinary actions, can be used to determine whether the employee meets qualification standards.

Throughout the period of this Agreement, employees displaced (by reason of layoff) from jobs they occupied for thirty (30) or more calendar days shall receive preferential rights for consideration of award of said jobs in the event hose jobs become open and available pursuant to the bid procedure herein.

Section 11.03 Failure to Award. In the event no City full time employee applies for a job vacancy posted pursuant to Section 11.01 or is qualified for said job, the City may thereafter fill the opening at its sole discretion.

Section 11.04 Prohibition Against Second Change. If a full-time employee is awarded a job pursuant to the job posting procedure set forth in Article Eleven, he/she may not apply for another job posted pursuant to this Article Eleven, for a period of at least one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the effective date of the change. However, in the event no qualified applicants apply internally for an open position, the City reserves the right to allow probationary and "second chance" employees to be considered.

Union Initial: <u>NS</u>

Date: 12/6

ARTICLE TWELVE: AUTHORIZED UNION BUSINESS

Section 12.01 Notices. The Union agrees that its' President or a person duly empowered to act in the President's behalf shall keep the Mayor and Personnel Director advised in writing of the representatives of the Union who are authorized to deal with the City. A current list of Union officers and Stewards shall be provided at least annually on July 1 each year and within 30 calendar days when any change occurs in the Union Officers or Stewards. The Union agrees further that such notifications and authorizations shall designate the Union representative or representatives to whom notices, information, certifications and services by City representatives, as are provided for in this Agreement, shall be directed or furnished.

Section 12.02 Promotion, Transfer or Temporary Assignment. When the City desires either to promote or transfer an employee who is a duly certified area representative of the Union to a management position, and the proposed change would have an effect on the employee's status as an officer of the Union, the City agrees to give the designated Union representative written notice of such impending promotion or transfer as far in advance as possible, but must notify the Union at least five (5) calendar days before the effective date of the change.

Section 12.03 Unpaid Union Leave of Absence. Upon request to the employee's immediate supervisor, a Union leave of absence, without pay may be granted by the City for an employee who is an officer of the Union, or the Union representative to pursue Union business for reasonable lengths of time. The employee's request shall state the time and date the leave will begin and the approximate time and date the leave will end. The supervisor shall act in good faith in making a decision to grant or not grant the requested leave, and the supervisor shall respond to the employee requesting such leave, which answer shall include the reason for denying any such request. This unpaid leave of absence includes time spent by a member of the Union's negotiating committee in negotiations with the City or for attending joint Union and City committee meetings or conferences which occur outside of the employee's regularly scheduled work hours. No payment shall be made for excused absence for grievances, except as otherwise provided in Article Thirty-Three. The Union officer of Union representative shall be those bargaining unit members which the Union has authorized in writing to the City in Article Thirty-Eight. During negotiations, the negotiation committee will be afforded up to 16 hours of paid time to prepare for negotiations. The time cannot be taken in more than 4 hour increments once a week.

<u>Section 12.04 Conventions and Training.</u> Union officers shall be afforded time off without loss of pay to attend Union conferences, conventions and seminars. The amount of time off so taken shall not exceed a total of fifteen (15) days during each calendar year for the Union. Only Union officers shall be permitted to use time off with pay under this Section 12.04. "Union Officers" as used in this Section 12.04 shall mean President, Vice President, Recording Secretary, Treasurer, Chief Steward and Union members as determined by the President.

No more than 20% of any department's employees can be off work to attend and the Department Head can deny time off if it creates an undue hardship on the department.

ARTICLE THIRTEEN: COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

Section 13.01 Bargaining	Representatives.	n the ev	ent the	parties	begin	negotiations	or	discussion
pursuant to Section 45.01 or 45.02,	each party shall noti	fy the oth	ner in w	riting of	f its aut	thorized repre	esen	tatives.

. 0

City Initial:	17	Union Initial: _\(\mathbb{V}\)
Date: 12/7		Date: 12/6

Section 13.02 Wages During Collective Bargaining. While this Agreement is in effect, the City shall pay wages to any bargaining unit employees participating on the Union's bargaining committee for work which they miss while participating in negotiations.

Section 13.03 Facilities. The parties shall agree in writing on a meeting place for collective bargaining purposes, and the parties shall equally share the cost of this facility.

ARTICLE FOURTEEN: WAGES

Section 14.01 Wages. After the year 2021, if the Police or Fire Department receives an increase in their base pay in any given year, AFSCME shall receive an increase in base pay equivalent to the average of the raises received by those departments.

Section 14.02 Increases. The City of Muncie shall pay the following increases in base pay for the duration of this agreement as long as it does not put the City of Muncie into deficit spending:

Year 2021	4% increase + \$0.48/hour
Year 2022	0% increase
Year 2023	2% increase

ARTICLE FIFTEEN: SHIFT PREMIUM

Section 15.01 Shift Premium. Any full-time employee scheduled to work the second shift in its entirety shall be paid an additional twenty cents (\$0.20) per hour. Any full-time employee scheduled to work the third shift in its entirety shall be paid an additional thirty cents (\$0.30) per hour. Shift premium shall not be gained or lost as a result of an extension of a shift cause by working more than eight (8) hours in a day.

ARTICLE SIXTEEN: OVERTIME

Section 16.01 Overtime. Overtime is all authorized time (rounded to the nearest one-quarter (1/4) hour) worked by an employee which is in excess of 8 hours a day or forty (40) hours of work (as defined in Article Eight) in a workweek. Overtime shall not be offered to part-time employees unless all eligible full-time employees within the bargaining unit have been offered said overtime first.

Section 16.02 Overtime Pay. All overtime worked by an employee shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1 ½) times the employee's regular hourly rate of pay. Shift premium and longevity allowance shall be included in the calculation of the employee's regular hourly rate of pay as required by the Fair Labor Standards Act when determining the overtime pay premium.

City Initial: DK

Date: 127

18

Union Initial: NS

Date: 176

a) Once an employee has clocked out, if the employee is called back to work in the circumstance where a six (6) hour break has not occurred, the shift will continue as consecutive hours minus the time granted for the break that was given. At the point the employee works twelve (12) hours, without a six (6) hour break, then the employee will be paid at a rate of two (2) times the employee's regular rate of pay.

Section 16.03 Performance of Overtime Work. Overtime shall be performed only upon assignment or with prior approval of the employee's immediate supervisor or department head.

If an employee becomes too exhausted or is unable to continue his or her shift, then the employee will call his or her supervisor, explain the circumstances, and inform the supervisor that they are requesting to "tap out". If the supervisor, employee, and the Union Representative agree for the employee to leave his or her shift, then the employee will be allowed to "tap out". Once this occurs, the employee will not be paid for the time not worked.

Section 16.04 Overtime Roster. The employees with the most Department seniority within the Department who are qualified to perform the job will be offered overtime first, with right of refusal and so on down the seniority list. The employee(s) with the least Department seniority within a Department who is/are qualified to perform the job shall be required to work the overtime if the more senior qualified employees do not accept the overtime. Employees not actively working when it is decided overtime is needed will be called and offered overtime as if they were working. Employees with seniority who cannot be reached, will have one (1) hour prior to the end of the shift to exercise their right to overtime. Notwithstanding the preceding, employees not actively working will not be called for overtime if daily schedules are extended for less than three (3) hours.

Section 16.05 Extreme Emergency Overtime. In the event an extreme emergency is declared for the City of Muncie by the Mayor or his or her designee where an essential employee fails to show up for his or her assigned shift, then this essential employee will not get paid for the time he or she did not actually work. Additionally, if the employee does not show up at the time designated for his or her requested shift, the supervisor of said essential employee may send him or her home, now allowing essential employee to work the remaining shift time period. If an essential employee's regularly scheduled shift is during the extreme emergency then this employee will be paid at the regular rate of pay unless he or she works over eight (8) hours consecutively.

For the purposes of this Section, Section 16.04 Overtime Roster applies when determining who is offered overtime. However, in the event an extreme emergency is declared for the City of Muncie by the Mayor or his or her designee, and essential employee who refuses to perform the assigned shift will be required to take a personal or vacation day. If the essential employee does not have personal or vacation days to use, he or she will not be paid for shifts refused to work. For employees who are not working during the extreme emergency, if the employee is absent from work because of a prior approved vacation, personal, or illness day off, then the employee must personally speak with his or her supervisor one (1) hour before his or shift to gain approval of switching the status of the day off to not count against the employee's time off benefit.

For the purposes of this Section, "essential employees" are those employees of the City of Muncie as designated by the Mayor.

ARTICLE SEVENTEEN: CALL-OUT P AY

City Initial: DRDate: 127

19

Union Initial: NS

Date: 26

Section 17.01 Call-Out Pay. In the event a full-time employee is called out to perform work outside the employee's normal hours of work, the employee is paid at the employee's hourly rate of pay at one and one-half (1 ½) times for the time involved in actually performing work (including travel time from where they are called of 30 minutes) while on the call-out with a three (3) hour minimum. If the employee performs work at multiple jobs at multiple locations, the same three (3) hour minimum applies. If the employee is recalled within a twelve (12) hour time frame, the original three (3) hour minimum applies.

Example: If John is called out and clocks in at 7:30 p.m., performs all work required, then clocks out at 8:30 p.m., John's hours worked would be 1 hour + 30 minutes of travel time = one and one half (1 $\frac{1}{2}$) hours. If John is recalled and clocks in at 10:30 p.m., performs all work required, then clocks out at 11:00 p.m., John's hours worked would be 30 minutes + 30 minutes of travel time + 1 $\frac{1}{2}$ hours from the first call out = two and one half (2 $\frac{1}{2}$) hours. John would be paid the three (3) hour minimum.

If John is called out and clocks in at 7:30 p.m., performs all work required, then clocks out at 10:15 p.m., John's hours worked would be 2 hours and 45 minutes + 30 minutes of travel time = three (3) hours and fifteen (15) minutes. He would be paid for the 3 hours and 15 minutes. If John is recalled within the next twelve (12) hours, all additional time worked + 30 minutes of travel time will be added to the original three (3) hours and fifteen (15) minutes.

ARTICLE EIGHTEEN: LONGEVITY ALLOWANCE

<u>Section 18.01 Eligibility.</u> Subject to the provisions of this Article Eighteen, a full-time employee shall be eligible to receive a longevity allowance, calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Article Eighteen, provided the employee has achieved at least five (5) years of Length of Service.

<u>Section 18.02 Required Seniority: Amount of Longevity Allowance.</u> Subject to the provision of this Article Eighteen, a full-time employee shall be eligible to receive a longevity allowance after achieving five (5) years of Length of Service, as follows:

<u>Seniority</u>	Amount of Allowance Per Hour
Beginning with the 6 th year through the 10 th year of Length of Service	\$0.40 per hour worked
Beginning with the 11 th year through the 15 th year of Length of Service	\$0.70 per hour worked
Beginning with the 16 th year through the 20 th year of Length of Service	\$0.90 per hour worked
Beginning with the 21st year of Length of Service	\$1.10 per hour worked

Subject to the provisions of this Article Eighteen, a full-time employee becomes eligible to receive the applicable longevity allowance beginning with the first full workweek after the date he/she achieves the necessary Length of Service.

City Initial: 1)/2

12/7

20

Union Initial: _\(\)

Date: 12/6

ARTICLE NINETEEN: HOLIDAYS

Section 19.01 Holidays Observed. The City observes the following thirteen (13) holidays:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King's Birthday Presidents Day Good Friday Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day

Veterans Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Day New Year's Eve

During election years, two (2) extra days are provided for the primary and general elections.

Except as otherwise provided in Section 19.02 below, the holidays set forth above are observed on the dates established by the Mayor.

Section 19.02 Holiday Pay.

- Full-Time Employees. Eligible full-time employees will receive their hourly rate of pay for their a) regularly scheduled hours of work on the day observed as the holiday. To be eligible to receive holiday pay, a full-time employee must have worked his or her full scheduled hours of work (both straight-time and overtime) on his or her last scheduled workday before the holiday and his or her first scheduled workday after the holiday unless the employee's absence on such a day is due to one of the following reasons: (1) approved vacation; (2) approved personal days; (3) approved funeral leave; (4) jury duty; (5) witness duty; (6) military leave; or (7) approved paid extended sick leave.
- b) Other Employees. Ineligible full-time employees are not entitled to receive holiday pay.

Section 19.03 Work on a Holiday. A full-time employee who works overtime hours (as defined in Article Sixteen of this Agreement) on a holiday will be paid one and one-half (1 1/2) times his or her regular hourly rate of pay for the overtime hours in addition to holiday pay for hours actually worked.

If a Department is not regularly scheduled to work on the holiday, the work will be offered as stated in Section 16.04.

ARTICLE TWENTY: VACATION

Section 20.01 Amount of Paid V	Vacation.	Subject to	the	provisions	of th	is Article	Twenty,	full-time
employees shall be entitled to paid vacation	n benefits:	as follows:						

City Initial:

21

Union Initial: 18

Length of Service as a Full-Time Employee	Amount of Vacation
After the first 180 days of Length of Service	Five (5) days during the second (2 nd) 180 days of Length of Service
Beginning the 2 nd through the 4 th year of Length of Service	Twenty (20) days each year through the 4 th year of Length of Service
Beginning the 5 th through the 9 th year of Length of Service	Thirty (30) days each year through the 9 th year of Length of Service
Beginning the 10 th through the 19 th year of Length of Service	Thirty-Five (35) days each year through the 20 th year of Length of Service
Beginning the 20 th year of Length of Service	Forty (40) days each year

A full-time employee becomes entitled to use his or her appropriate number of vacation days on the anniversary date he or she achieves the necessary Length of Service.

Section 20.02 When Vacation Must Be Taken: Non-Accumulation. Vacation days must be taken during the year of length of service after the anniversary date on which they become available for use. For example, if a full-time employee is hired on March 11, 1997, March 11 is his/her anniversary date. The employee completes three (3) years of City-wide Seniority on March 11, 2000; the employee must take the twenty (20) days of vacation during his/her three (3) year length of service, from March 11, 2000, through March 10, 2001.

Full-time employees are encouraged to take the vacation days which become available to them. Earned and accrued vacation pay which is not used or taken by the employee during the year it becomes available is lost and is not paid off. However, any employee who on December 31, 2005, had accrued vacation from prior years of service shall retain that accrued vacation and may use it in subsequent years.

Section 20.03 Vacation Pay: Time of Payment.

- (a) <u>Vacation Pay.</u> One (1) earned vacation day is equal to eight (8) hours. Pay for time off which is charged to vacation will be at the employee's straight-time hourly rate of pay or the actual, scheduled straight-time hours not worked.
- (b) <u>Time of Payment.</u> Vacation pay is paid on the usual payday for the payroll period in which the vacation is taken.

<u>Section 20.04 Minimum Increment of Use.</u> Vacation benefits must be used and charged against available vacation in increments of not less than one-half (1/2) day.

Section 20.05 Scheduling Vacations. For a full-time employee to take and receive paid vacation, the vacation time must be scheduled by the employee as far in advance as possible, preferably at least five (5) working days prior to start of the vacation. If an employee is requesting more than forty (40) hours of vacation time consecutively, the vacation time must be scheduled at least ten (10) working days prior to the start of the vacation. An effort will be made to meet individual preferences as to vacation times consistent with the needs of City Initial:

Date: 12/6

the City and the Department. In all cases, however, the work requirements of the City and The Department must take priority in scheduling vacation. The employee's department head may cancel vacation weeks previously scheduled if he or she determines there is an emergency. Supervisors may limit the number of employees in their Department who are on vacation at any one time to no more than ten percent (10%) of the workforce in the Department.

In case of a conflict between full-time employees in the same department for specific vacation week times, time submission of the request will be the determining factor, with the earlier request taking precedence over a later request. Provided, however, in the event there is a conflict between full-time employees who submit their request on the same day, seniority shall be the determining factor, with the greater department seniority taking precedence over the lesser department seniority.

In the event a Department establishes all or part of its vacation scheduling at the beginning of a calendar year, nothing in this Section 20.05 prohibits the Department from establishing the vacation schedule on a rotating seniority basis.

If a full-time employee is absent without advance approval by the employee's department head, the employee generally will not be permitted to charge the hole against available vacation and will be subject to disciplinary action. The employee's department head may, however, allow time off which was not scheduled in advance to be charged against available vacation if the department head, in the department head's discretion, judges the circumstances to have been an emergency.

Section 20.06 Holiday During Vacation. If a holiday is observed during a full-time employee approved vacation, the holiday will be paid as a holiday and the day will not be charged to the employee's available vacation.

Section 20.07 Termination of Employment. A full-time employee shall be entitled to receive the cash equivalence of his or her available but unused vacation (including any extended vacation) existing at the time of termination of employment.

Section 20.08 Change of Employment Status. In the event of a full-time employee employment status changes to be a part-time or a temporary employee, the employee shall be entitled to receive the cash equivalence of his/her available but unused vacation existing at the time of termination of employment.

Section 20.09 Probationary Full-Time Employees. Probationary full-time employees are not entitled to vacation benefits. They may, however, request an unpaid special leave of absence as stated in Article Twenty-Eight.

ARTICLE TWENTY-ONE: PERSONAL DAYS

Section 21.01 Amount of Paid Personal Days. Subject to the provisions of this Article Twenty-One, full-time employees shall be entitled to twelve (12) personal days as follows:

Length of Service as a Full-Time Employee	Amount of Personal Days
After the first one hundred eighty (180) days of	Six (6) days during the second (2 nd) one hundred
Length of Service	eighty (180) days

23

Union Initial: <u>PS</u>

Date: 12/6

After the first (1st) and subsequent years of Length	Twelve (12) days during the second (2 nd) and
of Service	greater years of Length of Service

A full-time employee becomes entitled to use his/her appropriate number of personal days on the anniversary date he/she achieves the necessary seniority.

Section 21.02 Non-Accumulation. Personal days may not be accumulated from year of seniority to year of seniority. Personal days which are not taken during the year of seniority for which they become available for use are lost and may not be used thereafter. The employee is not entitled to receive the cash equivalence of any such loss of personal days. However, any personal days not taken during a calendar year will be added to the employees extended sick leave bank, provided it does not exceed the maximum accumulation permitted for extended sick leave. Full-time employees shall receive a notice with their paycheck during the month following their anniversary date informing them of how many unused personal days were remaining and the total paid extended sick leave days currently available.

Any employee who does not use his/her personal days during the course of a year, from anniversary date to anniversary date, for the purposes of using for "illness", shall be given one (1) day to be used toward their retirement severance payout as specified in Article 47.

<u>Section 21.03 Use.</u> Personal days may not be used by a probationary full-time employee. Personal days may be used as personal days for such purposes as the employee chooses.

<u>Section 21.04 Minimum Increment of Use.</u> Personal days must be used in increments of not less than four (4) hours unless for a qualifying FMLA reason.

Section 21.05 Personal Day Pay; Time of Payment.

- a) <u>Personal Day Pay</u>. One (1) personal day is equal to eight (8) hours. Pay for any time off which is chargeable to available but unused personal days will be at the employee's straight-time hourly rate of pay for the actual scheduled straight-time hours not worked.
- b) <u>Time of Payment</u>. Personal day pay is paid on the usual payday for the payroll period in which the personal day time is taken.

Section 21.06 Scheduling; Notification.

a) Scheduling. For an employee to use personal day benefits, the personal day must be scheduled with and approved by the employee's department head in advance. The employee must personally speak to the employee's supervisor or immediate supervisor in order for the use of a personal day to be approved; communication via email, text, or voicemail/answering machine message is not acceptable. Time off should be requested as far in advance as possible, but at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance. An effort will be made to meet individual preferences as to personal day time off consistent with the needs of the Department. In all cases, however, the work requirements of the Department must take priority over the scheduling of personal days. The employee's department head may cancel previously scheduled personal time off if he or she determines an emergency requires the cancellation. If an employer is absent without advance approval by his or her department head, the employee generally will not be permitted to charge the personal time against personal days and will be subject to disciplinary action. The employee's department head may, however, allow personal time off which was not scheduled in advance to

City Initial: DR

Date: 12/7

Union Initial: US

Date: 12/6

be charged against personal days if the employee's department head, in his or her discretion, judges the circumstances to be unforeseen.

In case of conflict between employees for specific personal days, time off subject to the needs of the Department and the City, the time submission of the requests will be the determining factor, with the earlier request taking precedence over a later request.

In the event a Department establishes all or part of its personal day scheduling at the beginning of a calendar year, nothing in this Section 21.06 prohibits the Department from establishing the personal day schedule on a rotating seniority basis.

b) Notification - Illness. To be eligible to use and receive personal day benefits due to the illness of the employee or the employee's immediate family member, the employee must notify his or her department head as soon as possible, but at least within one-half hour prior to the time the employee is scheduled to report to work. The employee must personally speak to the employee's supervisor or immediate supervisor in order for the use of a personal day to be approved; communication via email, text, or voicemail/answering machine message is not acceptable. For each consecutive day thereafter, the employee must notify his or her department head at least one-half hour prior to the start of work on each day involved so long as he or she is unable to work, unless other arrangements have been made between the employee and his/her department head. Failure to notify the department head will result in no pay for the day involved. If an employee fails to notify his or her department head, the employee generally will not be permitted to charge the sick time against personal days and will bel subject to disciplinary action.

Employees are required to call in in accordance with their department's established call-in procedures

Employees who have called in sick are ineligible to be called for overtime until they have worked one normally scheduled workday.

Section 21.07 Termination of Employment. An employee s hall be entitled to receive the cash equivalence of his/her available but unused personal days existing at the time of termination of employment.

Section 21.08 Change of Employment Status. In the event a full-time employee's employment status changes to be a part-time or temporary employee, the employee s hall be entitled to receive the cash equivalence of his/her available but unused personal days, if any existing on the date of the change.

Section 21.09 Probationary Employees. Probationary full-time employees are not entitled to paid personal day benefits. They may, however, request unpaid special leave as stated in Article Twenty-Eight.

ARTICLE TWENTY-TWO: PAID EXTENDED SICK LEAVE

Section 22.01 Amount of Paid Extended Sick Leave. Subject to the provisions of this Article Twenty-Two, all full-time employees shall be entitled to paid extended sick leave benefits at the rate of accrual of onefifth (1/5) day of paid extended sick leave per every pay period worked.

City Initial: DAL

Date: 12/7

25

Union Initial: <u>NS</u>

Date: 2/6

Paid extended sick leave accrues for paid time off as well as hours actually worked; it does not accrue for unpaid time off.

Section 22.02 Maximum Accumulation and Supplemental Health Care Premium Benefits.

- An employee may not accumulate more than seven hundred and twenty (720) hours of paid a) extended sick leave during his/her employment with the City of Muncie. However, any employee who on December 31, 1992, accumulated more than 720 maximum number of hours-shall-retain such hours for paid extended sick leave purposes.
- Beginning January 1, 1999, an employee who retires from the City of Muncie, may use any paid b) extended sick leave in excess of the maximum accumulation as set forth in paragraph (a) above, for the purpose of supplementing any health care benefit premium or the retiring employee may opt to receive the cash equivalent of said excess paid extended sick leave. The retiring employee shall have the option to determine whether the benefit will be paid on an interval or a one-time basis by the City. If the retiring employee selects the interval option, the City shall retain the right to disburse such benefits on an annual or lesser time period basis.

For example, a 60-year-old employee who earns \$10.00 per hour at the time he or she decides to retire has accumulated 800 hours of paid extended sick leave benefits. The employee will be entitled to receive a one-time cash payout of \$800.00 (800 hours minus 720 hours x \$10.00) or \$800.00 payable until the age of 65 (Medicare eligibility date) in installments of \$160.00 each year as health insurance premium benefit supplemental payments for five (5) years.

Section 22.03 Available but Unused Personal Day Benefits. In the event an employee has available but unused personal day benefits, those available but unused benefits remaining at the end of each year of City-Wide seniority will be added to the employee's available but unused paid extended sick leave benefits. Full-time employees shall receive a notice with their paycheck in the month following their anniversary date informing them of how many unused personal days and were remaining and their new paid extended sick leave bank total.

Section 22.04 Use. Paid extended sick leave shall begin on the third (3rd) consecutive workday for a nonprobationary full-time employee's absence from work due to the employee's own medical condition which is not compensable under Indiana Workmen's Compensation law or similar program. Paid extended sick leave may not be used due to the illness or injury of anyone other than the employee (e.g., it may not be used due to the medical condition of an employee's family member). The term "medical condition" means all temporary medical disabilities, including illness, injury, pregnancy, childbirth and related conditions.

Notwithstanding the preceding, an employee may use up to five (5) days combined of paid vacation leave, paid personal leave and paid extended sick leave per each continuous absence which is due to an illness or injury that is compensable under the Indiana Workers Compensation law. In the event those days are later covered by the City's Workers Compensation Insurance, the employee will not be permitted to credit those days back to his vacation, personal leave or extended sick leave accrual.

Section 22.05 Eligibility. To be eligible to use paid extended sick leave, a full-time employee must do each of the following:

Use two (2) days of his or her personal days prior to using any paid extended sick leave each a) time. In the event personal days have been exhausted, the employee shall use vacation. In the

City Initial: DR

Date: 12/7

Union Initial: 13

26

event the employee has no vacation or personal days remaining, the first two days of the absence shall be unpaid.

- b) Be absent from work for at least three (3) or more days;
- c) Submit a physician's statement confirming the employee's absence from work was due to the employee's medical condition. A "physician" means a person licensed to practice medicine in the State of Indiana. The physician's statement must be submitted to the employee's department head the day the employee returns to work if it was not submitted to the department head prior to the beginning of the paid extended leave of absence;
- d) Submit a City form completed by the employee's physician and the employee within the time frames set forth in 22.05(c) above, if required to do so by the employee's department head;
- e) Follow the notification provisions set forth in Section 22.7; and
- f) An employee on Extended Sick Leave shall automatically be considered to be on FMLA provided the employee meets the eligibility requirements for FMLA. Extended Sick Leave shall run currently with FMLA.

Failure to do any of the above may result in no pay on the regular payday for the absence involved.

Section 22.06 Extended Sick Pay; Time of Payment.

- a) Extended Sick Pay. One (1) paid extended sick leave day is equal to eight (8) hours. Pay for any time off which is chargeable to paid extended sick leave will be at the employee's straight-time hourly rate of pay for the actual scheduled straight-time hours not worked.
- b) Time of Payment. Extended sick leave pay is paid on the usual payday for the payroll period in which the sick leave is taken.
- Minimum Increment of Use. Paid extended sick leave must be used and charged against unused c) paid extended sick leave in increments of not less than eight (8) hours.

Section 22.07 Request for Paid Extended Sick Leave.

- Prior Notification. Except as provided in paragraph (b) below, a full-time employee who a) requires paid extended sick leave must notify his or her department head and the Personnel Director of the need for the leave as far in advance of the proposed beginning date of the leave as possible. The notice must be in writing and state: (1) the medical condition requiring the leave; (2) the date the employee desires the leave to begin; and (3) the length of leave requested. The department head or the Personnel Director may request that the notice be accompanied by a physician's statement substantiating the medical condition and the need for the leave requested. The employee may also be required by the Personnel Director to provide additional medical information prior to the employee returning to work.
- b) Subsequent Notification. In the event a full-time employee is unable to provide the department head with notice prior to the beginning of the paid extended sick leave as set forth in paragraph (a), above, the employee must notify his or her department head and the Personnel Director in

27

City Initial:

Union Initial: 15

writing within three (3) calendar days after the start of the paid extended sick leave, which shall include the date on which the absence begins. Said notification may be made by the employee or by a family member or attending physician and contain the following: (1) the medical condition requiring the leave; and (2) the length of the leave requested. Failure to timely notify the department head will result in no pay for the days involved prior to said notification. In addition, if an employee fails to timely notify his or her department head, it may result in disciplinary action.

Section 22.08 Return to Work. A full-time employee, prior to returning to work from a paid extended sick leave of absence, must have a physician's written release which contains the following information: (1) diagnosis; (2) prognosis; (3) restriction(s), if any; (4) basis for the restriction(s); (5) approximate date the restriction(s) will be lifted; and (6) physician's signature. If the employee desires to return to work before the approved paid extended sick leave of absence ends, the employee must contact the Personnel Director to determine if such a change is acceptable to the City.

An employee who returns to work at the end of his approved paid extended sick leave will be returned to his/her former position provided no employee in his/her Department at the end of his/her approved paid extended sick leave is on long-term layoff status. If at any time there is one (1) or more employees in his/her Department on long-term layoff status, then he/she may elect to exercise his/her City-Wide Seniority to displace an employee in the City, if any: (1) who is not on long-term layoff status; and (2) who has less City-Wide Seniority than the employee returning from approved paid extended sick leave; provided, however, that the returning employee is qualified to fill the position of the employee he/she is displacing. To be qualified, the employee must have the qualifications, education, work experience, training, skills, licenses, certificates, ability, competency, and other job-related requirements to perform the job at a satisfactory level as determined by the Personnel Director. If the returning employee does not return to active employment in his/her Department due to employees in his/her Department being on long-term layoff status, he/she shall then be considered to be on long-term layoff status under Section 34.02(b) of this Agreement beginning on the calendar day after the date his/her approved paid extended sick leave ends.

Section 22.09 Expiration of Leave.

- Failure to Return. An employee who is granted paid extended sick leave of absence is expected a) to return to active employment upon expiration of the approved paid extended sick leave of absence and any extensions thereof. If the employee does not return for work at the end of the leave, his or her employment is terminated unless he or she is granted additional paid extended sick leave (Section 22) or unpaid extended sick leave (Section 23).
- Inability to Return Without Restrictions. Upon expiration of an employee's paid extended sick b) leave of absence and any extensions thereof, if the employee is still unable to return to work with no restrictions which would prevent the employee from performing the essential functions of his job in a safe and efficient manner, with or without a reasonable accommodation which does not result in an undue hardship on the City, the employee may request unpaid extended sick leave as stated in Article Twenty-Three of this Agreement.

Section 22.10 Termination of Employment. In the event a full-time employee's employment terminates, the employee's available but unused paid extended sick leave, if any, existing on the date of termination is lost. The employee is not entitled to receive the cash equivalence of any such lost paid extended sick leave.

City Initial: DR

Date: 12/1

28

Union Initial: NB

Date: 12/6

Section 22.11 Change of Employment Status. In the event a full-time employee's employment status changes to be a part-time employee or a temporary employee, the employee's available but unused paid extended sick leave, if any existing on the date of the change is lost. The employee is not entitled to receive the cash equivalence of any such lost paid extended sick leave.

Section 22.12 Probationary Full-Time Employees. Probationary full-time employees are not entitled to paid extended sick leave. They may, however, request an unpaid special leave of absence as stated in Article Twenty-Eight.

Section 22.13 Benefits. To the extent permitted by the health insurance plan group life and accidental death insurance plan as set forth in Article Thirty, and the retirement plan (as set forth in Article Thirty-One), the employee may continue his or her participation so long as the employee continues his/her current payroll deduction for his/her portion of the monthly premiums.

Section 22.14 Definition. Paid Extended Sick Leave is defined as any time off for qualifying medical reasons that is paid using the employee's own accrued time. (ie., Personal, Vacation, or Extended Sick Time).

Section 22.15 Outside Work While on Sick Leave. While an employee is on Sick Leave, whether the leave is paid leave, unpaid leave, or covered under FMLA, the employee is prohibited from engaging in outside employment.

ARTICLE TWENTY-THREE: UNPAID EXTENDED SICK LEAVE

Section 23.01 Unpaid Extended Sick Leave. A full-time employee who is temporarily disabled and unable to work due to his or her own medical condition may be granted, upon request, a leave of absence without pay for the period of his or her disability up to a maximum of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days. The term "medical condition" means all temporary medical disabilities, including illness, injury, pregnancy, childbirth and related conditions.

Each separate time an employee is temporarily disabled, the employee is eligible to request an unpaid extended sick leave of absence; provided, however, all such unpaid extended sick leaves of absence are added together and count toward the one hundred eighty (180) calendar day maximum; unless: (a) the reasons for the unpaid extended sick leaves of absence are not medically related; or (b) the reason for the later unpaid extended sick leave of absence is medically related to the earlier one and starts at least six (6) calendar months after the end of the earlier one.

An employee on Unpaid Extended Sick Leave shall automatically be considered to be on FMLA provided the employee meets the eligibility requirements for FMLA. Unpaid Extended Sick Leave shall run currently with FMLA.

Section 23.02 Other Paid Leaves. A full-time employee who is granted an unpaid extended sick leave of absence is required to use any available personal day leave and vacation benefits (excluding one (1) week of vacation) prior to the unpaid extended sick leave of absence beginning.

Section 23.03 Request for Unpaid Extended Sick Leave: Physicians Statement. An employee who requires an unpaid extended sick leave of absence must notify his or her department head and the Personnel Director of his or her need for the leave as far in advance of the proposed beginning date of the leave as possible;

City Initial: DK

Date: 12/7

provided however, if the event for which the unpaid extended sick leave is required is due to an emergency medical condition which makes it impractical to notify the department head and the Personnel Director in advance, the employee shall notify the employees department head and the Personnel Director as soon as possible, but within three (3) calendar days after the start of the unpaid extended sick leave (which shall include the date on which the absence begins), after the need for the unpaid extended sick leave arises. The notice must be in writing and state: (1) the medical condition requiring the leave; (2) the date the employee desires the leave to begin; and (3) the length of the leave requested. In addition, the notice must be accompanied by a physician's statement substantiating the medical condition and the need for the leave requested. A "physician" means a person licensed to practice medicine in the State of Indiana.

Section 23.04 Return to Work. A full-time employee, prior to returning to work from an unpaid extended sick leave of absence, must have a physician's written release which contains the following information: (1) diagnosis; (2) prognosis; (3) restriction(s), if any; (4) basis for the restriction(s); (5) approximate date the restriction(s) will be lifted; and (6) physician's signature. The Personnel Director may also require the employee to provide additional medical information prior to the employee returning to work. If the employee desires to return to work before the approved unpaid extended sick leave of absence ends, he or she must contact the Personnel Director to determine if such a change is acceptable to the City.

An employee who returns to work at the end of his approved unpaid extended sick leave will be returned to his former position provided no employee in his/her Department at the end of his/her approved unpaid extended sick leave is on long-term layoff status. If at that time there is one (1) or more employees in his/her Department on long-term layoff status, then he/she may elect to exercise his/her City-wide Seniority to displace an employee in the City, if any: 1) who is not on long-term layoff status; and (2) who has less City-wide Seniority than the employee returning from approved unpaid extended sick leave; provided, however, that the returning employee is qualified to fill the position of the employee he/she is displacing. To be qualified, the employee must have the qualifications, education, work experience, training skills, licenses, certificates, ability, competency, and other job-related requirements to perform the job at a satisfactory level as determined by the Personnel Director. If the returning employee does not return to active employment in his/her Department due to employees in his/her Department being on long-term layoff status, he/she shall then be considered to be on long-term layoff status under Section 34.02(b) of this Agreement beginning on the calendar day after the date his/her approved unpaid extended sick leave ends.

Section 23.05 Expiration of Leave.

- a) Failure to Return. An employee who is granted unpaid extended sick leave of absence is expected to return to active employment upon expiration of the approved unpaid extended sick leave of absence. If the employee does not return to work at the end of the leave, his or her employment is terminated.
- b) <u>Inability to Return Without Restrictions</u>. Upon expiration of the one hundred eighty (180) calendar days maximum length of unpaid extended sick leave of absence, if the employee is still unable to return to work with no restrictions which would prevent the employee from performing the essential functions of his or her job in a safe and efficient manner, with or without a reasonable accommodation which does not result in an undue hardship on the City, his or her employment is terminated.

<u>Section 23.06 Workers Compensation.</u> A full-time employee whose medical condition is compensable under the Indiana Workers Compensation Law, or similar program, shall be automatically considered to be on

 City Initial:
 DR
 30
 Union Initial:
 Union Initial:

unpaid extended sick leave under this Article Twenty-Three beginning on the first day of absence from work due to that medical condition.

Section 23.07 Benefits. To the extent permitted by the health insurance plan group life and accidental death insurance plan as set forth in Article Thirty, and the retirement plan (as set forth in Article Thirty-One), the employee may continue his or her participation so long as the employee pays the full monthly premiums within thirty (30) calendar days after the date the premiums are due. If the employee fails to make any premium payment within thirty (30) calendar days after the date such payment is due, the employee's participation in such plan shall terminate.

Section 23.08 Definition: Unpaid Extended Sick Leave is defined as any time off that an employee takes for qualifying medical reasons that is unpaid or paid under Donated Extended Sick Time. (See Section 23.09)

Section 23.09 Donated Sick Time: In accordance with Ordinance 13-01 and Ordinance 7-02, the City of Muncie allows employees to donate Extended Sick Time to employees on an approved Extended Sick Leave of Absence. Employees receiving this donated time will be considered on "Unpaid Sick Leave" as the paid time is not being paid out of their own accrued time. In order to be eligible to receive Donated Sick Time, the employee on leave must be out of all available accrued time of their own with the exception of one week of vacation time that they are allowed to retain if they wish.

If the employee's anniversary date rolls while they are on unpaid leave and the employee receives additional accrued time (personal, vacation), the employee is required to use that time prior to receiving any additional donated time.

ARTICLE TWENTY-FOUR: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

Section 24.01 Bereavement Leave of Absence. In the event of the death of an employee's spouse, parent, child, sister, brother, grandparent, grandchild, current mother-in-law or current father-in-law, the employee shall be permitted to be absent from work with pay for up to five (5) consecutive days. Current step relatives of the aforementioned categories are also included in this Section 24.01.

An employee shall be permitted to be absent from work with pay for up to three (3) consecutive days in the event of the death of the employee's current sister-in-law, current brother-in-law, current daughter-in-law or current son-in-law, and aunt or uncle.

City Initial: DR

Date: 12/7

31

Section 24.02 Notification. Ann employee who desires to be absent due to the death of a family member must notify the department head as soon as possible, but not later than twenty-four (24) hours prior to the workday on which the absence begins, and request the days off.

Section 24.03 Proof of Relationship. The employee must submit proof of relationship (e.g. copy of obituary, death certificate) prior to receiving funeral leave pay. Failure to submit such proof will result in no pay for the time not worked by the employee.

Section 24.04 Probationary Full-Time Employees. A probationary full-time employee is entitled to receive pay from the City for hours of work they are absent while attending or arranging a funeral in accordance with this Article 24.

ARTICLE TWENTY-FIVE: JURY DUTY LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Section 25.01 Jury Duty Leave. For each day an employee is required to be absent from work due to being called for jury duty the employee will be considered to be on jury duty leave of absence.

Full-time employees who are on jury duty leave of absence will receive their straight-time hourly rate of pay for their scheduled hours of work they are absent on jury duty leave, less the amount paid by the court.

Section 25.02 Notification. An employee who will be absent due to jury duty must notify his or her department head of the absence as soon as possible, but not later than the beginning of the employee's shift on the workday on which the absence begins by presenting a copy of the notification.

Section 25.03 Return to Work. An employee absent from work due to jury duty is expected to return to work on his or her first regularly scheduled workday after the day his or her duty ends. The employee must keep his or her immediate supervisor informed as to the date the employee expects to be able to return to work. The employee must give his or her supervisor a copy of the employee's jury duty pay voucher before the employee will receive jury duty pay.

Section 25.04 Failure to Return to Work. If an employee does to return for work on his or her first regularly scheduled workday after the day his or her jury duty ends, his or her employment is terminated unless the reason for the failure to return to work is based upon additional leave granted to another Article of this Agreement.

32

City Initial: DR

Date: 127

Union Initial: WDDate: 12/6

ARTICLE TWENTY-SIX: WITNESS LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Section 26.01 Witness Leave. For each day or a portion of a day a full-time employee is required to be absent from work due to being subpoenaed in a criminal or civil proceeding, the employee will be considered to be on a witness leave of absence.

Full-time employees who are subpoenaed on behalf of the City shall receive their straight-time hourly rate of pay for their scheduled hours of work they are absent on witness leave. Employees subpoenaed for any other reason, including testifying against the City, shall be considered to be on an unpaid witness leave of absence. Employees who are a party to a lawsuit will be considered to be on unpaid witness leave unless the employee is a party defendant with the City of Muncie.

Section 26.02 Notification. An employee who will be absent due to subpoena in a civil or criminal proceeding should notify the supervisor of the absence as soon as possible, but not later than the beginning of the employee's shift on the workday on which the absence begins. The employee must notify his or her supervisor by providing the supervisor with a copy of the subpoena.

Section 26.03 Return to Work. An employee absent from work due to subpoena in a civil or criminal proceeding is expected to work and complete his or her regularly scheduled workday on the day his or her witness obligation ends. The employee must keep his or her supervisor informed as to the date and time the employee expects to be able to return to work.

Section 26.04 Failure to Return to Work. If an employee does not return for work and complete his or her regularly scheduled workday on the day his or her obligation ends, his or her employment is terminated unless the reason for the failure to return to work is based upon additional leave granted pursuant to another Article of this Agreement.

ARTICLE TWENTY-SEVEN: MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Section 27.01 Military Leave. Military leave of absence for performance of duty with the United States Armed Forces or with a reserve component, or with the National Guard, is granted in accordance with applicable law.

City Initial: 17/6

Date: 12/7

33

Union Initial: NB Date: 12/6

Employees who are on military leave of absence will receive their straight-time hourly rate of pay for their scheduled hours of work they are absent on military leave up to a maximum of fifteen (15) workdays per calendar year. After fifteen (15) workdays of absence, such an employee will be considered on unpaid military leave of absence for the remainder of the absence.

Section 27.02 Notification. An employee who will be absent due to military duty must notify the employee's department head of the absence as soon as possible, but not later than prior to the beginning of the employee's shift ono the workday on which the absence begins.

Section 27.03 Return to Work. An employee absent from work due to military leave is expected to return to work on his or her firs regularly scheduled workday after the day his or her military duty ends. The employee must keep the employee's department head informed as to the date the employee expects to be able to return to work.

Section 27.04 Failure to Return to Work. If an employee does not return for work on his or her first regularly scheduled workday after the day his or her military duty ends, his or her employment is terminated unless the reason for the failure to return to work is based upon additional leave granted pursuant to another Article of this Agreement.

Section 27.05 Benefits. To the extent permitted by the health insurance plan group life and accidental death insurance plan as set forth in Article Thirty, and the retirement plan (as set forth in Article Thirty-One), the employee may continue his or her participation so long as the employee continues his/her current payroll deduction for his/her portion of the monthly premiums.

ARTICLE TWENTY-EIGHT: SPECIAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Section 28.01 Special Leave. A full-time employee may be granted a special leave of absence without pay for a period of time not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days per calendar year, provided the employee has exhausted all of his/her available but unused vacation and personal leave. Special leave of absence is not available to a full-time employee for the employee's own temporary medical condition. The term "medical condition" means all temporary medical disabilities, including illness, injury, pregnancy, childbirth and related conditions.

Section 28.02 Benefits. To the extent permitted by the health insurance plan, group life and accidental death insurance plan as set forth in Article Thirty, and the retirement plan (as set forth in Article Thirty-One), the employee may continue his or her participation so long as the employee pays the full monthly premiums within thirty (30) calendar days after the date the premiums are due. If the employee fails to make any premium payment

Union Initial: \(\begin{aligned} \begin{align

within thirty (30) calendar days after the date such payment is due, the employee's participation in such plan shall terminate.

While on leave under this Article Twenty-Eight, an employee is not entitled to use or receive any type of paid time off benefit (e.g., personal days, paid extended sick leave, vacation, and holiday) nor will an employee continue to gain seniority.

Section 28.03 Request Special Leave. An employee requesting a special leave of absence must do so as far in advance of the proposed beginning date of the leave as is possible. The request must be submitted in writing to the City's Personnel Director and must state: (1) the employee's reason for the requested special leave of absence; (2) the date proposed for the leave to begin; and (3) the date proposed for the leave to end. Whether or not the leave is approved is at the discretion of the Personnel Director. A special leave of absence will not be granted to a full-time employee due to the employee's own temporary medical condition as defined in Articles Twenty-One, Twenty-Two and Twenty-Three of this Agreement.

Section 28.04 Return to Work. An employee who returns to work at the end of a special leave of absence will be returned to his or her former position if conditions are the same at the end of the leave as when the leave began. If the City determines conditions are not the same, the employee will be offered the first opening thereafter in any job classification for which the City determines the employee is qualified.

If the employee desires to return to work before the approved special leave of absence ends, the employee must contact the Personnel Director to determine if such a change is acceptable to the City.

Section 28.05 Failure to Return to Work. An employee who is granted a special leave of absence is expected to return to active employment upon expiration or the approved leave. If the employee does not return for work at the end of the leave, his or her employment is terminated unless the reason for the failure to return to work is based upon additional leave granted pursuant to another Article of this Agreement.

ARTICLE TWENTY-NINE: PERSONAL TIME OFF FOR EDUCATION

Section 29.01 During Working Hours. The City encourages its employees to better themselves through education. If it is necessary for an employee to take working time to attend class, the employee may be allowed to make up the hours during non-traditional working time, if work is available.

35

City Initial: DR

Date: 127

Section 29.02 Scheduling. Employees who wish to take advantage of this Article Twenty-Nine shall first discuss the situation with t heir department head prior to scheduling classes or activities in order to assure a minimum of conflicts. Hours taken off for educational purposes are at the discretion of the department head and are not a right granted by this Article Twenty-Nine to the employee. In addition, hours worked are at the discretion of the employee's department head.

Section 29.03 Educational Leave. An unpaid educational leave of absence for a period not to exceed one (1) year may be granted an employee in order that the employee may attend a recognized college, university, trade or technical school, provided that the course of instruction is related to the employee's employment with the City, is of potential benefit to his/her City service, and/or leads toward an approved degree program. Before receiving the leave, or an extension thereof, the employee shall submit to the Personnel Director satisfactory evidence that the college, university or other school has accepted him/her as a student and, on the expiration of each semester or other school term, shall submit proof of attendance during such term, including the letter grade(s) received for all course work. Such leaves may be extended for additional periods not to exceed one (1) year each. Leave extensions are subject to the same approval process as the original leave.

Section 29.04 Training Required by City. In the event the City requires the employee to participate in additional training or education to facilitate duties of the employee, the City shall pay for the cost of such training or educational classes. Should the required training or classes occur during the employee's regularly scheduled work hours, or outside of the regularly scheduled work hours, the employee shall receive his/her regular rate of pay and time off to attend the required training and/or classes.

Section 29.05 Tuition Reimbursement. Provided the employee receives a grade of "C" or better, the course is related to the employee's employment with the City and is of potential benefit to his/her City service, a full-time employee shall be eligible for tuition remission, provided City Council appropriates the money required, as follows:

- a) For enrollment in any state-supported course or program at the undergraduate or graduate level at any community college, state college, or state university, fifty percent (50%) tuition remission shall apply.
- b) For enrollment in any non-state supported course or program offered through continuing education at any community college, state college, or state university, thirty percent (30%) tuition remission shall apply.
- c) Remission benefit, subject to space available and usual and ordinary admissions policies. It is also subject to the approval of the Board of Regents of Higher Education and the policies and procedures of the same.

City Initial: DK

36

Union Initial: <u>W</u>
Date: <u>IZ/C</u>

ARTICLE THIRTY: INSURANCE

<u>Section 30.01 Health Insurance.</u> Upon completing a wellness screening (physical) and participating in required wellness event(s) by October 31st of each year, employees will earn a \$1,000.00 incentive to be deposited into their HSA/HRA in January of the following year.

Active full-time employees shall have the choice between two insurance plans: White Plan and Blue Plan. The City shall pay the full amount of the cost of health insurance less the Employee contributions for Single, Employee + 1 child, Employee + spouse, and Family coverage based upon a bi-weekly rate, as follows:

White Plan		
	EE Contribution	ER Contribution
Single	\$35.00	\$290.70
E+1 Child	\$55.00	\$596.39
E + Spouse	\$75.00	\$576.39
Family	\$150.00	\$1,309.58

Blue Plan		
	EE Contribution	ER Contribution
Single	\$25.00	\$291.93
E+1 Child	\$35.00	\$598.83
E + Spouse	\$50.00	\$583.83
Family	\$75.00	\$1,344.18

Any increases or decreases in insurance premiums shall be shared between the City and employees proportionally.

<u>Section 30.02 Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance.</u> At the time this Agreement becomes effective, the City provides the following life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance benefits:

- a) <u>Life Insurance</u>. The City provides group-term life insurance benefits to its employees at no cost to the employee. The death benefit of the policy is up to Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000.00).
- b) <u>Accidental Death Insurance</u>. The City provides accidental death insurance to its employees at no cost to the employee. The benefit payable in the event of accidental death is up to Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000.00).

37

City Initial:

Date: 12/7

Union Ini

Union Initial: WDDate: 12/6

Plan Governs. The specific terms and conditions of the life and accidental death plans are as c) defined in the plans, copies of which will be provided to the Union.

Section 30.03 Employees Conversion and Continuation Rights. The City's obligation to pay for and provide these insurance benefits shall terminate on the last day actively worked by the employee's right, if any, to continue or convert insurance coverage during layoff, leave of absence, or upon termination shall be controlled by the provisions of the plans.

Full-time employees who are on layoff status may continue their Insurance by paying the full premium of what it costs the City for their insurance each month to the City. Failure to pay said premium within thirty (30) calendar days after the date said premium is due shall result in the automatic termination of insurance coverage. COBRA coverage shall be offered to all employees on long-term layoff status.

Section 30.04 Plan Documents Govern Terms. For each insurance benefit provided by the City to its employees, the insurance plan documents shall govern all of the terms and conditions of the plans. The insurance carrier and/or administrator shall resolve all issues, including without limitation, qualification, eligibility and continuation issues which arise between the City, the carrier, if any, and an employee, and all such issues shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

Section 30.05 Health Insurance for Retirees - General. Except as required by law, the City is not obligated to provide health insurance coverage for its retired employees under this Agreement. However, the City has agreed to make available insurance coverage for its retirees under the current plan and cost provided to the employees of the City. In order to continue to participate in health insurance coverage, the retired employees hall be a member in good standing with the Union, or in the alternative, shall pay a service charge to the Union in an amount equal to Union dues of Retirees.

Section 30.06 Health Insurance for Retired Employee Under the Age of 65 Years. An employee under the age of sixty-five (65) years shall be entitled to participate in the group insurance pursuant to this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, this is limited to only mean an employee:

- Who is a retiree and participating in such coverage on January 1, 2013; or a)
- Who retires on or after January 1, 2013; and b)
- Who has not reached the age of sixty-five (65) years; c)
- Who does not qualify for Medicare; and d)
- Who has had at least twenty (20) years of continuous employment with the City e)

A retired employee must elect to participate in such coverage within the first thirty (30) calendar days after the date of the employee's retirement. A retired employee who fails to elect within said time period forfeits any right to participate in such coverage.

Upon completing a wellness screening (physical) and participating in required wellness event(s) by October 31st of each year, employees will earn a \$1,000.00 incentive to be deposited into their HSA/HRA in January of the following year.

The City shall pay the full amount of the cost of the health insurance less the Retiree's contribution for a single, employee +1, or family coverage based upon a percentage of the fully insured equivalent of the annual premium for the plan selected payable on a monthly basis as follows:

City In	itial: _	DR
Date:	17	17

38

Union Initial: NS

Date: 12/4

White Plan		
	EE Contribution	ER Contribution
Single	\$60.00	\$645.69
E+1 Child	\$90.00	\$1,321.35
E + Spouse	\$115.00	\$1,296.35
Family	\$250.00	\$2,912.43
	Blue Plan	
	EE Contribution	ER Contribution
Single	\$54.00	\$632.52
E+1 Child	\$75.00	\$1,297.47
E + Spouse	\$108.00	\$1,264.97
Family	\$162.50	\$2,912.39

Any increases or decreases in insurance premiums shall be shared between the City and employees proportionally.

The retired employee's portion of the monthly premium shall be due and payable to the City on a monthly basis. The retired employee may elect to change plans prior to the start of each plan year during the enrollment period limited by the above restrictions.

If a retired employee elects not to participate in such coverage in accordance with the collective bargaining unit, the retired employee shall continue to pay a premium designated by the City towards the cost of such coverage.

Section 30.07 Health Insurance for Retired Employee Over the Age of 65 Years. An employee over the age of sixty-five (65) years shall be entitled to participate in the group insurance pursuant to this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, this is limited to only mean an employee:

- a) Who is a retiree employee and participating in such coverage on January 1, 2013; or
- b) Who is an employee who retires on or after January 1, 2013; and
- c) Who has reached the age of sixty-five (65) years;
- d) Who qualifies for Medicare; and
- e) Who has had at least twenty (20) years of continuous employment with the City

The City agrees to pay all costs involved to the retired employee and/or spouse for Supplement F less (-) twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) per month. The retired employee and spouse are responsible for any and all costs associated with Medicare Part B. A retired employee who has reached the age of sixty-five (65) and who is qualified for and enrolled in the Medicare Part B Program shall be entitled to participate in the City of Muncie Group Medicare Plan, including prescription coverage, pursuant to the following. Retired employee contributions for group health insurance are listed below and are based upon a monthly payment for the Plan selected. Retiree contributions of the monthly premium are:

City Initia	1: <u> </u>
Date:	12/7

39

Union Initial: NB

Date: 12/6

Plan C

Single	\$ 81.55
EE+1	\$138.09
Retired 65 w/Spouse	\$167.94
Family	\$251.19

A retired employee's portion of the annual premium shall be due and payable to the City on a monthly basis.

A Retiree and spouse must continue enrollment in Medicare Parts A and B in order to remain eligible for the City of Muncie Group Medicare Plan. In the event a Retiree and/or spouse dis-enrolls from Medicare Parts A and B, this will terminate their coverage in the City of Muncie Group Medicare plan and the coverage will not be reinstated. One exception would be if a retiree enters a long term care facility (nursing home) and dis-enrolls from the City of Muncie Group Medicare plan to participate in Original Medicare Parts A and B. This even would allow the spouse who did not enter the long-term facility (nursing home) to remain enrolled in the City of Muncie Group Medicare plan as long as he/she did not dis-enroll from Medicare Parts A and B.

The City will also provide the same coverage for dental, visual, and prescription as set forth by the collective bargaining unit.

Section 30.08 Leaves of Absence Without Pay. Except for FMLA qualifying leave for which an employee is eligible. City employees who are on an unpaid leave of absence of any kind must pay the full cost of their insurance premium each month to the City during said unpaid leave of absence. Employees who continue on unpaid leave after the expiration of the 12-week maximum FMLA leave must pay the full cost of their insurance premium to the City each month during the remainder of said leave. Failure to pay said premium within thirty (30) calendar days after the date said premium is due shall result I the automatic termination of insurance coverage. COBRA coverage shall be offered to all employees on a leave of absence without pay.

Section 30.09 Right to Change Insurance Carriers or Third-Party Administrators. The City reserves the right to change or provide alternate insurance carriers, third party administrators, health maintenance organizations, preferred provider option or to self-insure as it deems appropriate for any form of insurance referred to in this Article. Any change to the benefit levels with regard to the summary plan description must be agreed to by both parties. The Mayor or his designee will notify the Union President at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance of a change in insurance carriers or insurance provided for under this Agreement. The Union President or his designee shall notify the Mayor at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance to request a change in insurance carriers or insurance provided for under this Agreement.

Section 30.10 Cost Containment. The City reserves the right to institute cost containment measures relative to insurance coverage so long as the basic level of insurance benefits remains the same as the basic benefit level of the insurance coverage provided in this Agreement. Such changes may include, but not limited to, mandatory second opinions for elective surgery, pre-admission and continuing admission review, prohibition on weekend admissions except in emergency situations, mandatory out-patient elective surgery for certain designated surgical procedures, and voluntary wellness or physical fitness programs.

Should either the State or Federal Government pass legislation mandating all employers participate in National or State-wide health care plan, it is agreed by both parties to this Agreement that coverage for employees health care negotiated into this Agreement continue to do so would be in violation of the Federal or State law.

City Initial: _	DL
Date: 12	17

40

Union Initial: NS

Date: 12/4

Section 30.11 Insurance Committee. The City and the Union (ideally this would apply to all Unions representing City employees) will meet quarterly in a Joint Health Insurance Committee to study ways to achieve cost savings in the present hospitalization, dental, vision, medical, and prescription insurance programs, and to effectively implement such programs that might be agreed upon. The Joint Committee will consist of three (3) members selected by the members of AFSCME 3656 and three (3) members selected by the City. Any such cost sayings will bel implemented in a manner consistent with Section 30.09 and Section 30.10 above.

ARTICLE THIRTY-ONE: PUBLIC EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT FUND

Section 31.01 General. All full-time employees of the City are eligible to participate in the Public Employees Retirement Fund. This is a retirement fund designed to help an employee provide financial means to meet three personal needs – retirement, death and serious illness or injury.

A membership record is completed by each full-time employee within thirty (30) calendar days after the date of hire, and it is used to establish the account. A beneficiary, the person who will receive the money in an employee's account in event of death before retirement, is named, and it is important that an employee keep the beneficiary designation up to date.

From the first (1st) day of employment, an employee under age sixty (60) is required to become a member.

The employee contribution to the retirement fund is presently three percent (3%) of the employee's annual salary, and is deducted from each paycheck. Interest is credited to the money each year based on the actual investment earned by the fund. Quarterly, the employee will receive a statement of account.

More complete information about the retirement fund can be found in the Indiana Public Employees Retirement Fund Handbook, which may be obtained by contacting the City Insurance office.

The Public Employees Retirement Fund is established by Indiana law. At all times, participation in the fund, benefits, etc., is subject to the provisions of that law, and the City may change the benefits in accordance with such law without negotiating these terms with the Union. The Union voluntarily and knowingly waives its rights to negotiate any terms regarding the retirement benefits provided by the City.

ARTICLE THIRTY-TWO: DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

Section 32.01 General. The City shall have the right to maintain discipline and efficiency of operations. The City shall have the right to discipline or discharge non-probationary full-time employees for just cause. A non-probationary full-time employee who is disciplined or discharged may file a grievance concerning the discipline or discharge in accordance with the grievance procedure (Article Thirty-Three) of this Agreement. Probationary full-time employees may be disciplined or discharged at any time by the City for any reason the City deems sufficient; discipline or discharge of a probationary full-time employee shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

City Initial:	DR
Date: 12	/

41

Union Initial: N3

Date: 12/6

<u>Section 32.02 Progressive Discipline.</u> Except in the case of summary discharge (i.e., not the result of a third written reprimand), the City will issue a written reprimand (warning letter) to a full-time employee it is disciplining in accordance with the following procedure:

- a) A meeting between the employee and the employee's department head or the Personnel Director shall be held at which time the department head or Personnel Director shall review and develop the facts and, if the department head or Personnel Director believes the facts warrant, shall inform the employee that the employee is failing to meet acceptable standards of performance. A Union Representative shall be permitted to be present at this meeting if requested by the employee. The department head or the Personnel Director is required to inform the employee of the employee's option to have a Union Representative present. If an employee does request to have a Union Representative present, the meeting shall not proceed following the request until a Union Representative is present.
- b) Within five (5) workdays after the meeting, the employee's department head or the Personnel Director shall give to the employee a written reprimand informing the employee: of the date of the meeting stated in (a) above; the manner in which the employee is failing to meet acceptable standards of performance; and that further discipline, including discharge, may result if acceptable standards of performance are not met.
- c) If a full-time employee at any time has there (3) active written reprimands, the employee shall be discharged. If an employee does not receive a warning letter for a twelve (12) calendar month period shall not be considered as an "active" warning letter and will not be counted as one (1) of the three (3) active warning letters toward discharge.

A written reprimand may be accompanied by a suspension without pay of up to fifteen (15) workdays.

<u>Section 32.03 Just Cause for Discipline or Discharge.</u> It is agreed that just cause for issuance of a written reprimand shall include, but is not limited to the following:

- a) Wasting time, loafing, or loitering during working time;
- b) Tardiness or absenteeism;
- c) Leaving during working time without the Department Head or supervisor's approval;
- d) Stopping work before quitting time;
- e) Failure to report to work, except as permitted by this Agreement;
- f) Minor violation of safety rules;
- g) Engaging in horseplay, disorderly conduct, arguments or foul language;
- h) Interfering with another employee doing his or her job;
- i) Unintentional unsatisfactory work;
- j) Poor work effort or attitude;
- k) Failure to observe the employee's work schedule (i.e., starting time, quitting time, break or meal periods);
- I) Smoking in unauthorized areas on City property;
- m) Contributing to unsafe or unsanitary working conditions;
- n) Drinking or eating during unauthorized times or in unauthorized areas;
- o) Reporting to work in dirty clothing;
- p) Failure to report for duty within the required time in accordance with the call-out policy;
- q) Littering during working time;

City Initial: <u>DR</u>	42	Union Initial: W
Date: 12/7		Date: 12/6

- r) Parking in unauthorized areas;
- s) Failure to follow written or verbal directions of management;
- t) Carrying of passengers who are not City employees in City vehicles;
- u) Abuse of City vehicles;
- v) Failure to call in within one (1) hour after the start of the employee's shift on the first (1st) day of the absence;
- w) Conduct unbecoming to a workplace;
- x) Abuse of personal leave or extended sick leave (paid or unpaid); and
- y) Excessive absenteeism irrespective of the reason.

This list is not, nor is it intended to be, all inclusive. There are other types of unacceptable conduct, and the foregoing list shall not in any way be considered as limiting the City's right to issue a written reprimand to an employee for conduct which is not listed.

<u>Section 32.04 Just Cause for Summary Discharge.</u> The City reserves the right to immediately discharge an employee without prior written reprimand whenever it believes the circumstances warrant discharge.

Examples of the types of offenses which may result in immediate discharge include, but are not limited to:

- a) Possession of a firearm or other weapon on City property or on working time;
- b) Theft:
- Possession or being under the influence of intoxicants or drugs on City premises or on working time;
- d) Punching or signing another employee's timecard or worksheet or permitting another employee to punch or sign your own timecard or worksheet;
- e) Assault on any member of management;
- f) Falsification of application for employment or any other City records, reports or claims of insurance, including a timecard;
- g) Failure to keep the appropriate valid driver's license as required for the job;
- h) Conviction of reckless driving or driving while under the influence while in or operating a Cityowned vehicle:
- i) Unauthorized use of equipment;
- j) Intentionally defacing or damaging City equipment or property;
- k) Unauthorized modification or alteration to City equipment or property;
- l) Negligent or careless loading, checking, unloading or handling of City equipment;
- m) Taking unapproved leave of absence or vacation;
- n) Submitting a false reason for absence from work;
- o) Serious violation of established safety rules;
- p) Insubordination, including refusing to follow a supervisor's or Department Head's orders;
- q) Unauthorized possession of City property;
- r) Fighting on City property;
- s) Gambling on City property;
- t) Unauthorized absences for three (3) consecutive work days without notifying the employee's Department Head;
- u) Failure to immediately report an accident or personal injury occurring during working time to a supervisor or Department Head within twenty-four (24) hours of its occurrence;

City Initial: $\frac{1}{2}$ Union Initial: $\frac{1}{2}$ Date: $\frac{12}{6}$

- v) Sleeping during working time; and
- w) Violation of the City's Non-Discrimination Policy or Article 40.

The preceding list is not, nor is it intended to be, all inclusive. There are other types of unacceptable conduct which may result in immediate discharge, and the foregoing list shall not in any way be considered as limiting the City's right to summarily discharge a full-time employee for just cause which are not listed.

ARTICLE THIRTY-THREE: GRIEVANCES

<u>Section 33.01 Grievance Defined.</u> A grievance shall be defined as a dispute concerning the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. All grievances shall be settled in accordance with this grievance procedure. If a grievance is settled at any stage of the grievance procedure, it shall be considered closed.

<u>Section 33.02 Informal Grievance Process.</u> Any employee or departmental steward, who believes that the provisions of this Agreement have been violated, must discuss the matter with his/her immediate supervisor as designated by the City in an effort to avoid a grievance and/or resolve any dispute.

<u>Section 33.03 Formal Grievance Procedure.</u> A grievance shall be processed and disposed of in the following manner:

- Step 1: Following exhaustion of the INFORMAL process set forth above, the aggrieved employee, or a Union representative, shall deliver the grievance to the employee's Department Head. A properly prepared grievance must: (1) be submitted in writing on the form mutually agreed to by the Union and the City; (2) state the specific section or sections of this Agreement allegedly violated; (3) state the specific occurrence or events which allegedly were in violation of the stated sections; (4) be signed by the aggrieved employee; and (5) be received by the Department Head within five (5) working days after the aggrieved employee becomes aware, or should have become aware, of the occurrence or event giving rise to the grievance. The Department Head shall answer the grievance, with reasonable specificity, in writing, within five (5) work days following the date of his/her receipt of the written grievance. A copy of the Department Head's answer shall be given to the local Union President.
- Step 2: If the grievance is not settled at Step 1, within five (5) working days, the grievance shall be submitted to the Personnel Director by the Union. The Personnel Director (or designee) shall answer the appeal within five (5) workdays following the date of his receipt of the Step 2 appeal, or if a grievance meeting is requested by either party, then within five (5) workdays following the date the grievance meeting is held. A copy of the Personnel Director's answer shall be given to the local Union President. The grievance shall be considered closed unless the Union, on behalf of the aggrieved employee files an appeal under Step 3.
- Step 3: If the grievance is not settled at Step 2, within five (5) working days, the grievance shall be submitted to the Personnel Director by the Union for presentation to the Grievance Committee. The "Grievance Committee", (composed of the Mayor or designee, the Personnel Director, a representative of AFSCME District Council 62, and a Local No. 3656 official), shall meet and confer at a mutually selected site for the purpose of resolving the grievance

City Initial:	44	Union
Date: 147		

Initial: <u>IJS</u>

Date: 12/6

within ten (10) working days of the Personnel Director's submission of the written grievance to the Grievance Committee.

Step 4: If the grievance is not settled at Step 3, the Union President may appeal the grievance to arbitration. The appeal must (1) be submitted in writing; (2) be signed on behalf of the Union President; and (3) be received by the Personnel Director within ten (10) working days after the date the grievance becomes eligible for appeal by reason of the Mayor's or designee's answer at Step 2.

> Resolution of the grievance shall then occur pursuant to Article Thirty-Four of this Agreement.

Section 33.04 Grievance Meeting.

- Time and Place of Meeting. The time and lace of grievance meeting shall be chosen and a) scheduled during the regular work time and on regularly scheduled work days of the grievant and the Union representative or at another time by mutual agreement of the City and the Union.
- Attendance. A grievance meeting at Step 1 shall be attended by the aggrieved employee, a Union b) representative, and a City representative in the presence of the aggrieved employee's supervisor. In the case of a group grievance under Step 1, up to three (3) of the aggrieved employees may attend. The City and the union may invite such other person or persons as are needed to resolve the dispute and/or to present evidence at the meeting to ascertain facts.
- c) Pay for Attendance. Any employee or employees attending a grievance meeting as a grievant, Union representative, alternate representative or witness, which is not scheduled during their regularly scheduled work hours, shall not be entitled to be paid for the time spent in attending the meeting, and such time shall not constitute hours worked for any other purpose under this Agreement. If the particular grievance meeting is held during the regularly scheduled work hours of an employee required to attend the meeting as a grievant, a Union representative, or alternate representative or a witness, then the employee shall be paid at his or her straight-time rate of pay (including shift premium, if applicable) for any straight-time working hours missed by him or her, and the time so paid shall constitute hours worked by him or her for purposes of this Agreement.

Section 33.05 Time Limits. The time limits and procedure provided for in this Article Thirty-Three for the presentation and appeal of a grievance may be extended or modified in any instance with the written consent of the City and the Union. Any failure to timely answer or appeal a grievance by either party, in the absence of a mutually agreed to extension as provided for in this Article, shall result in a forfeiture of the party seeking to appeal or deny the grievance, to wit: A failure to timely appeal the grievance will result in the last answer given by the City to be conclusive of the matter and final and binding; a failure by the City to timely answer the grievance will result in a grant of the relief sought by the grievant.

Section 33.06 Representation. If an employee (or group of employees) has referred a grievance to the Union and the Union Representative has informed the City that the Union represents the employee and/or employees, the City will not discuss or adjust such grievance directly with said employee or group of employees unless the Union Representative is present.

45

City Initial:	DR
Date: 12	17

Union Initial: WB

Date: 12/6

Section 33.07 Final Authority. The Union shall have final authority to dispose of any grievance at any step of the grievance procedure in any manner deemed by it to be most prudent, including refusal to process the grievance further and the City may conclusively rely on any such disposition.

ARTICLE THIRTY-FOUR: ARBITRATION

Section 34.01 Selection of Arbitrator. If the Union makes a timely submission of a grievance to arbitration as stated in Step 4 of the grievance procedure, the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service shall be requested by either party to submit a panel of seven (7) suggested arbitrators. The Union and the City shall select the arbitrator from such list by each alternately removing one (1) name from the list until one (1) name remains. A coin flip shall decide which party strikes the first name. The parties shall bear equally any fees of the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service required in order to obtain a list of suggested arbitrators.

Section 34.02 Power of the Arbitrator.

- The arbitrator's power is limited to deciding whether the City has violated a specific promise in a) this Agreement. There shall be no right to obtain and no arbitrator shall have any power to award or determine any change in, modification or addition to, or subtract from, any of the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no power to substitute his discretion for that of the City in any matter in which the City has not expressly contracted away its right to exercise such discretion. (This sentence shall not be interpreted or construed, however, as restricting the power of the arbitrator to fashion the remedy if the City is held to have violated this Agreement).
- b) The arbitrator shall give both parties the opportunity to present evidence and, unless the parties mutually agree to the contrary, the opportunity to argue the grievance orally and in writing. Either party may make a tape recording of the arbitration hearing at its own expense. If either the aggrieved employee or the Union fails to appear and present its case at the arbitration hearing before the arbitrator selected in accordance with this Agreement, they shall be deemed to have waived the case and the arbitrator shall enter his/her decision against them; if the City fails to appear and present its case at the arbitration hearing before the arbitrator selected in accordance with this Agreement, the City shall be deemed to have waived the case and the arbitrator shall enter his/her decision against it.
- In the event an arbitrator awards back pay (full or partial), such back pay shall be calculated on c) the basis of the amount of straight-time wages (including shift premium and longevity premium, if applicable) the employee would have earned with the City less any interim earnings, including unemployment compensation and any other governmental payments that the employee received from any source (other than a previously held "second job") during the period of time for which back pay is being computed.
- The arbitrator shall use reasonable efforts to make a written decision and award within thirty (30) d) calendar days following the close of the hearing in accordance with the evidence and the provisions of this Agreement. Such a written decision s hall be final and binding on the City, the Union and the aggrieved employee.

City Initial: DR	
Date: 12/7	
Date: 1 1/	

46

Union Initial: N3

Date: 12/6

Section 34.03 Expenses of Arbitration. The expenses for the fee and expenses of the arbitrator and the cost of the hearing room shall be borne equally by the Union and the City. The City and the Union shall each pay the fees and expenses of its own representatives and witnesses.

ARTICLE THIRTY-FIVE: LAYOFF

Section 35.01 Types of Layoff Defined.

- a) Short-Term Layoff. A "short-term layoff" is a reduction in the number of employees in a job classification within a department for a period less than or equal to thirty (30) workdays.
- Long-Term Layoff. A "long-term layoff" is a reduction in the number of employees in a job b) classification, for more than thirty (30) workdays which does not constitute a "short-term layoff".

Section 35.02 Order of Layoff.

- If the City decides to reduce the number of employees in a job classification within a department a) (the "affected job classification") temporary employees in the affected job classification within the department shall be released first, followed next by part-time employees in the affected job classification within the department, and finally, by probationary full-time employees in the affected job classification within the department. Further reduction in the number of full-time employees in the affected job classification in a department s hall be in reverse order (lease senior first) of their City-Wide Seniority.
- Provided an employee is qualified, an employee who is displaced from his/her job classification b) may exercise his/her seniority rights only by electing to: (1) displace the lease senior employee in a lower paying classification within the effected department where the layoff occurred, or (2) displace the lease senior employee in any other classification, in any other department. Whichever option is selected by the displaced employee, the employee's City-Wife Seniority shall be determinant in establishing the employee's displacement or "bumping" rights. Employees who are "bumped" may exercise their displacement rights under this Article. Qualified shall mean possessing the requisite skills and experience to perform the job in a satisfactory manner.

Section 35.03 Effect on Employment.

- Non-Probationary Full-Time Employees. A non-probationary full-time employee remains on a) long-term layoff status until the earlier of:
- His/her return to active employment as a full-time employee in the job classification he/she held at the 1) time the long-term layoff began;
- 2) His/her failure to return to work within seven (7) calendar days of the date specified by a notice of recall;

The expiration of his/her being on long-term layoff for a continuous period equal to the following period 3) of time based upon the employee's City-Wide Seniority, as follows:

City-Wide Seniority as a Full-Time Employe	E Laid Off for the Following Period:
Less than two (2) years City-Wide Seniority	Six (6) months
Two (2) years up to five (5) years of City-Wide	Twelve (12) months
City Initial: TA	47 Union Initial: 1/3

Seniority	
Greater than five (5) years of City-Wide	Eighteen (18) months
Seniority	

- b) Other Employees. If a probationary full-time employee is laid off under this Section 35.01, his/her employment terminates on the date the layoff begins.
- Non-Probationary Full-Time Employees Benefits While on Long-Term Layoff: While on c) long-term layoff, a non-probationary full-time employee:
- 1) Does not accrue seniority;
- Does not receive holiday pay for any holiday observed during his layoff; 2)
- Does not receive any longevity allowance pay during his layoff; 3)
- May not use available vacation days: 4)
- Insurance coverage is terminated and he/she will be offered COBRA coverage; and 5)
- Is not entitled to take any type of paid or unpaid leave of absence. 6)

Section 35.04 Short-Term Layoff.

- Order of Layoff. If the City decides to reduce the number of employees in a job classification a) within a department (the "affected department") and the reduction will constitute a short-term layoff (as defined in Section 35.01(a) above, the reduction shall not be subject to any of the provisions of Section 35.02, above. In the event of a short-term layoff, the City, in its sole discretion, shall determine the employees to be released and, in doing so, shall not be required to follow categories of employment, probationary or non-probationary status or either Department or City-Wide Seniority of the employees in the affected Department. The City's determination of who shall be released and who shall be retained shall not be subject to the grievance or arbitration procedure. Short-term layoff shall not be used for disciplinary purposes.
- b) Effect on Employment. An employee remains on short-term layoff status until the earlier of:
- 1) His/her return Inactive employment;
- 2) His/her failure to return to work at the end of the short-term layoff as required by the notice of recall.
 - Full-Time Employee Benefits While on Short-Term Layoff. While on short-term layoff, a fullc) time employee:
- 1) Accrues seniority as stated in Section 7.01 of this Agreement;
- If he/she is a probationary employee, does not accumulate days toward completion of his probationary 2) period;
- Does receive holiday pay for any holiday observed during the short-term layoff; 3)
- Does not receive any longevity allowance pay during his/her layoff; 4)
- May not use available vacation days; 5)
- Insurance coverage shall not be terminated; 6)
- Is not entitled to take any type of paid or unpaid leave of absence. 7)

City Initial: \mathcal{DK}

48

Union Initial: NS

Date: 12/6

<u>Section 35.05 Beginning Date of Layoff.</u> Any layoff of an employee (whether long-term or short-term) shall be considered to begin on the calendar day after the calendar day of the beginning of the last shift for which the City determines work was available for that employee.

ARTICLE THIRTY-SIX: RECALL

Section 36.01 Recall From Long-Term Layoff.

- a) Order of Recall. When a full-time position in a job classification becomes available, full-time employees who are in long-term layoff status under Section 35.02 of this Agreement and who were in the affected job classification at the end of their long-term layoff will be recalled in order of their City-Wide Seniority (greatest seniority first). Employees shall be recalled to a position for which they previously held job rights.
- b) <u>Employees Must Accept Recall</u>. A full-time employee must accept recall unless the City excuses him/her in writing.
- c) Notice of Recall From Long-Term Layoff.
- 1) The City may recall a full-time employee from long-term layoff by any available means including notice given on or before the time of layoff. If a full-time employee is not contacted by other means, the City will mail a notice of recall to the employee's last address known to the City.
- 2) If a full-time employee is not given notice of recall on or before the time of his long-term layoff, the notice will be given (or postmarked) at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the date the employee is to report back to work. If work is available, however, the employee may return earlier by mutual agreement with the City.
 - d) <u>Termination of Eligibility for Recall</u>. A full-time employee's eligibility for recall from long-term layoff status shall terminate upon termination of his seniority and employment as stated in Section 7.03 of this Agreement.

<u>Section 36.02 Recall From Short-Term Layoff.</u> Recall from short-term layoff shall be given to the affected employee on or before the time of his short-term layoff.

ARTICLE THIRTY-SEVEN: SAFETY

<u>Section 37.01 City Responsibility.</u> The City shall make reasonable provisions for the safety and health of its employees during the hours of their employment.

<u>Section 37.02 Employee Responsibility.</u> Each employee shall observe the safety rules established from time to time by the City in accordance with applicable federal and state laws.

City Initial: <u>DR</u>

Date: <u>12/7</u>

Date: <u>12/6</u>

Section 37.03 Safety Committee. The Union and the City agree to cooperate to the fullest extent in the promotion of safety and in the maintenance of safe working conditions and practices. To further these objectives, a joint Safety Committee shall be established consisting of at least one (1) but no more than three (3) nonbargaining unit members and at least one (1) but no more than three (3) members of the Union. The duties of the joint Safety Committee shall be to meet as necessary (at a mutually agreed time during regular work hours), but no more than two (2) hours every three (3) months without prior written agreement of the co-chairmen, to confer on safety problems and to explore methods of furthering safe working habits of City employees. The Committee members of each party shall select one (1) member who shall act as permanent co-chairman of the joint Safety Committee. Members of the Committee, designated by the Union, will receive their regular rate of pay for time lost from work in the performance of their joint Safety Committee functions.

Section 37.04 Danger. No employee shall be required to work on a job where the employee has good reason to believe that such dangerous health or accident condition exists beyond the normal hazard inherent in the operations. The employee shall immediately inform his or her immediate supervisor of any such dangerous health or accident condition which exists. The supervisor will then have the responsibility to determine what action, if any, should be taken.

ARTICLE THIRTY-EIGHT: UNION REPRESENTATIVES

Section 38.01 Union Representatives. The Union shall have the right to designate one (1) Union Representative in each of the following departments to represent all employees in that Department who are in the bargaining unit: City Hall and Street Sign Department; Parks Department; Animal Shelter; and Beech Grove. These employees shall be known as "stewards" and each shall select an alternate to act in his place when he is not working. The Union will give the City written notice of each Union Representative designation as evidence of his authority to act in that capacity and to represent the Union at the steps of the grievance procedure where the Representative is the designated representative at least annually.

Section 38.02 Expenditure of Time. Grievant and/or Union Representative referred to in specific steps of the grievance procedure shall be allowed reasonable time, without loss of pay and during their regular working hours, to file and process grievances and to attend grievance meetings and arbitrations. No grievant or representative shall leave work to file, investigate or process a grievance or to attend a grievance meeting or arbitration without first notifying and obtaining the permission of such person's department head and obtaining permission of the department head of the department in which the filing, investigating or processing of the grievance is occurring. Subject to the foregoing requirements, appropriate Union representatives may be permitted reasonable time off without loss of pay to investigate grievance. Permission must be first obtained from effected department heads.

The steward or union officer processing said grievance may request records or documents relevant to the case. Such requests shall be made through the Personnel Director.

Section 38.03 Failure to Comply. The City may report to a representative of the Union any instance in which it is claimed the Union Representative has not complied with the requirements of Section 38.02. If there is a dispute between the City and a Union Representative concerning the Union Representative's compliance with the requirements of Section 38.02, the Union Representative shall immediately cease the conduct giving rise to the dispute and return to his/her work assignment. Refusal of a Union Representative to comply with the requirements of this Section 38.03 shall be just cause for his/her discipline up to and including discharge.

50

City Initial: ________ Date: 12/7

Union Initial: <u>US</u>

Date: 12/4

ARTICLE THIRTY-NINE: EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

Section 39.01 Recognition. The City and the Union recognize that problems of a personal nature can have an adverse effect on an employee's job performance. It is also recognized that most personal problems can be dealt with successfully when identified early and referred to appropriate care. The Employee Assistance Program is designed to provide counseling, evaluation and referral services. The program is designed to deal with the broad range of human relation problems such as alcohol and drug problems, emotional/behavioral disorder, family and marital discord, and other personal problems.

For the purpose of this section, it is the City's and the Union's policy that personal illnesses will be defined as illnesses that can be controlled or cured. The program is designed to assist the employee by referring the individual to seek appropriate assistance.

The overall objective of the Employee Assistance Program is to reduce problems in the workforce and to retain valued employees.

Section 39.02 Participation Protection. The employee will not jeopardize his standing with the City or the Union in wages, benefits, seniority or promotions by participation in this program.

The employee health insurance coverage contains provisions to partially pay for the treatment required. No other payment will be made by the City for such services.

Section 39.03 Information. All information pertaining to these matters have the same confidentiality as other medical and personal information.

A list of qualified City and Union contacts will be placed by the Union on the Union bulletin boards.

ARTICLE FORTY: NON-DISCRIMINATION

Section 40.01 Equal Employment Opportunity. Neither the City nor the Union will discriminate against any employee on the basis of race, color, creed, religion, age, national or ethnic origin, sex, disability, citizenship or other basis prohibited by federal, state or local law. Equal employment opportunity includes, but is not limited to: hiring, promoting, transfer, demotion, termination and training. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to be inconsistent with applicable laws prohibiting unlawful discrimination.

Section 40.02 Sexual Harassment. Harassment on the basis of sex is prohibited by the City and the Union. Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, unwelcome or unsolicited sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature:

1) When submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly as a term or condition of an individual's employment;

City Initial:

51

Union Initial: 12/6

Date: 12/7

- 2) When submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual (i.e., hiring, firing, promotion, demotion, compensation, benefits, working conditions); and
- 3) When such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.

Section 40.03 Reporting. Any employee who believes he or she has been unlawfully discriminated against, including sexual harassment by a co-worker, supervisor, agent of the City or agent of the Union or by a citizen served by the City should promptly report the facts of the incident or incidents and the names of the persons involved to his or her immediate supervisor, department head, the Personnel Director or the Mayor. Supervisors and department heads should promptly report such incidents to the Personnel Director or the Mayor. All claims of unlawful discrimination will be investigated and appropriate corrective action will be taken.

Section 40.04 Retaliation. Retaliation is prohibited against employees who bring charges of unlawful discrimination, including sexual harassment, or those who assist in investigating charges. Any employee bringing an unlawful discrimination complaint or assisting in the investigation of such complaint will not be adversely affected in terms and conditions of employment nor discriminated against or discharged because of the complaint.

Section 40.05 False Claims. Any person who knowingly files false charges against an employee of the City in an attempt to demean, harass, abuse or embarrass that individual shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

ARTICLE FORTY-ONE: EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE

Section 41.01 Evaluation. An evaluation is a systematic review of an individual employee's performance on his or her job to evaluate the effectiveness or adequacy of his or her work. Evaluations are documentation used in promotions, transfers and other transactions involving the employee.

Section 41.02 Evaluation for Probationary Employees. All newly hired employees of the City are required to serve a probationary period of six (6) months. A written evaluation will be prepared at the end of any probationary period, and a conference will be held between the employee and his or her immediate supervisor to discuss the evaluation for any problems which need to be discussed.

Each employee's performance will be evaluated in writing at least once a year by the employee's immediate supervisor. The supervisor s hall inform the employee in writing of any changes needed in job performance.

A copy of the written evaluation will be issued to the employee, and the original evaluation will bel placed in the employee's departmental file.

If the employee does not agree with his or her evaluation, the employee shall have the right to grieve following the grievance procedure in Article Thirty-Three.

City Initial: DR

Date: 12/7

52

Union Initial: <u>IS</u>

Date: <u>12/6</u>

ARTICLE FORTY-TWO: CLOTHING AND TOOLS

Section 42.01Clothing and Tools.

- A. The City agrees to furnish seasonal uniforms to the employees in the following departments: Street, Sign Shop, Cemetery, Animal Shelter, Park, Prairie Creek, Controllers, Building Commissioner, and Police Records. A uniform allowance will be established at local vendors. The City logo and AFSCME Local 3656 logo must appear on all outerwear. Uniform design will be established by the City and may vary by department at supervisor's discretion. The amount of the allowance will be up to \$325.00 for office personnel and \$500.00 for all other employees. Employees shall present themselves to the public clean and properly dressed.
- B. All mechanics in the bargaining unit shall receive an annual check in the amount of \$750.00 for the purchase of updating and replacing tools.

ARTICLE FORTY-THREE: FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)

<u>Section 43.01 Amount and Use.</u> An eligible employee will be granted up to twelve (12) work-weeks of unpaid family and medical leave during a twelve (12) month period for one or more of the following reasons:

- a) To care for the employee's spouse, child or parent who has a serious health condition;
- b) Due to a serious health condition that renders the employee incapable of performing the essential functions of his or her job;
- c) Birth of the employee's child and in order to care for that child; or
- d) Placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care.

Provided, however, family and medical leave of absence will not exceed a total of twelve (12) workweeks in a twelve (12) month period. The twelve (12) month period will be measured backward from the date the employee first uses any Family and Medical leave.

The term "serious health condition" means an illness, injury, impairment or physical or mental condition which involves: (a) any period of incapacity or treatment in connection with or consequent to inpatient care; (b) any period of incapacity requiring absence from work, school or other regular activities of more than three (3) days, that also involves continuing treatment by (or under the supervision of) a health care provider; (c) continuing treatment by (or under the supervision of) a health care provider for a chronic or long-term health condition that is incurable or so serious that, if not treated, would likely result in a period of absence of more than three days (e.g., asthma, epilepsy, diabetes); (d) prenatal care including pregnancy, childbirth or complications or illness related to pregnancy and childbirth; (e) permanent/long term conditions requiring supervision (e.g., Alzheimer's, a severe stroke, the terminal stages of a disease); or (f) multiple treatments and non-chronic conditions (e.g., chemotherapy, radiation, physical therapy, occupational therapy, dialysis).

City Initial: <u>DK</u>	53	Union Initial:
Date: 12/7		Date: 12/6

Ordinarily, unless complications arise, the common cold, flu, ear aches, upset stomach minor ulcers, headaches, routine dental or orthodontia problems, periodontal disease and routine physical examinations are not serious health conditions and do not qualify for leave under this Section.

"Health care provider" means a licensed doctor of medicine or osteopathy or as otherwise defined by the U. S. Department of Labor.

<u>Section 43.02 Eligible Employee.</u> An eligible employee is an employee who has been employed by the City for at least twelve (12) months and has worked at least 1250 hours in the 12-month period immediately preceding the leave requested.

Section 43.03 Restrictions.

- a) Family and Medical Leave is not available to an eligible employee to care for the child after twelve months have lapsed from the date of the birth, adoption or foster placement of the child.
- b) In the event the City employs a married couple, the couple is limited to a total of twelve (12) work-weeks of family and medical leave in a twelve (12) month period if the reason for the leave is: (A) due to a serious health condition of the employee's parent; (B) due to the birth of the employee's child and in order to care for that child; or (C) due to adoption or foster placement of a child and to care for that child.
- c) Family and Medical leave may not be used on an intermittent or reduced leave basis if the reason for the leave is due to the birth of the employee's child and to care for that child or due to adoption or foster placement of a child and to care for that child, unless leave on an intermittent or reduced leave schedule basis is requested in advance in writing by the employee and approved by the Personnel Director.

<u>Section 43.04 Use of Paid Time Off.</u> Any eligible employee who is granted family and medical leave is required to use any available paid vacation leave, paid personal leave and paid extended sick leave as part of the twelve-week leave period to the extent permitted under those particular leave sections.

Section 43.05 Request for Leave.

- a) <u>Planned Medical Treatment</u>. In the event the requested leave is foreseeable due to a planned medical treatment, the employee must:
 - 1) Consult with the *Personnel Director or designee* prior to the scheduling of treatment so as to minimize the disruption to the City; and
 - 2) Provide the *Personnel Director or designee* with at least thirty (30) calendar-day-notice to the date the leave is to begin, unless the planned medical treatment requires the leave to begin in less than thirty (30) calendar days, then within one (1) or two (2) business days after employee becomes aware of the need for the leave.
- b) <u>Birth or Placement</u>. In the event the leave is foreseeable based upon expected birth or placement, an eligible employee must provide the *Personnel Director or designee* with at least thirty (30) calendar-day-notice prior to the approximate date the leave is to begin. If the birth or placement requires the leave to begin in less than thirty (30) calendar days, then the employee

City Initial: DA	54	Union Initial: W
Date: 12/7		Date: 12/4

must provide notice within one or two workdays after the need for the leave becomes known to the employee.

c) Unforeseeable Medical Condition. An employee who requires leave due to an unforeseeable medical condition must notify the Personnel Director or designee within one or two work days after learning of the need for the leave.

Section 43.06 Intermittent or Reduced Leave. Medical leave may be taken on an intermittent or a reduced leave schedule basis in increments of one (1) hour when medically necessary and subject to certification requirements. An employee using family and medical leave on an intermittent or reduced leave schedule basis may be transferred temporarily to an available alternative position for which the employee is qualified and which better accommodates recurring periods of leave than the employee's regular position.

Section 43.07 Health Care Provider Certification. In the event the leave is due to the serious health condition of the employee or the employee's spouse, parent or child, the employee must provide to the Personnel Director or designee as soon as possible after requested by the Personnel Director or designee, a health care provider certification completed and signed by the health care provider of the employee or the health care provider of the child, spouse or parent, as appropriate, on the form provided by the City.

An eligible employee must obtain recertification in the following situations: (a) every thirty (30) calendar days (except where the minimum period of incapacity specified on the certification is more than thirty (30) days; (b) whenever circumstances described by the previous certification have changed significantly; (c) whenever the City receives information that casts doubt on the original certification; or (d) whenever the employee requests an extension of the leave. Any recertification requested by the City will be at the employee's expense.

Section 43.08 Second and Third Opinions. In the event the City doubts the health care provider certification provided by the employee, the City may require the employee, at the City's expense, to obtain a second opinion from a health care provider designated by the City.

If the second opinion differs from the original certification provided by the employee, then the City may require, at its expense, that the employee obtain a third opinion from a health care provider mutually agreeable to the City and the employee. The opinion of the third health care provider is final.

Section 43.09 Health Benefits. Health benefits in which an eligible employee is participating on the date the FMLA leave begins will be continued during the leave at the level and under the conditions that coverage would have been provided if the employee was not on leave.

In the event an eligible employee fails to return to work after the expiration of their FMLA leave, then the employee must reimburse the City for the premiums paid for the employee unless the reason the employee fails to return to work is due to either: (a) the continuation, recurrence or onset of a serious health condition; or (b) any other reason beyond the control of the employee.

The City may request a certification from the health care provider in the form prescribed by the City that states either: (a) That a serious health condition prevented the employee from being able to perform the functions of their position on the date the leave expired; or (b) That the employee is needed to continue to care for the employee's child, spouse or parent who had a serious health condition on the date the leave expired.

Section 43.10 Return to Work. An employee returning to work from a leave of absence due to his or her own serious health condition must be able to perform the essential functions of the employee's job. If a

City Initial: DK

55

Union Initial: 18

reasonable accommodation is required, the employee must notify the *Personnel Director or designee*. Prior to an employee returning to work from a medical leave of absence, the employee must provide to the City a certificate from the employee's health care provider that the employee is able to resume work and perform the essential functions of his or her job. The certificate must contain at least the following information: (a) that the employee is released to return to work; (b) restrictions, if any; (c) basis for the restrictions; (d) expected date the restrictions are to be lifted; and (e) health care provider's signature.

If an employee desires to return to work before the employee's approved leave of absence ends, the employee must contact his or her supervisor at least two business days prior to the date the employee desires to return to work.

When an employee returns to work at the end of an approved family and medical leave of absence, the employee will be returned to his or her former position or to an equivalent position with the equivalent employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment.

Section 43.11 Expiration of Leave.

- a) <u>Failure to Return.</u> If an employee is granted family and medical leave of absence, the employee is expected to return to active employment upon expiration of the approved leave of absence. If the employee does not return for work at the end of the leave for whatever reason and the employee is not eligible for any other approved leaves, the employee's employment is terminated.
- b) <u>Inability to Return Without Restrictions.</u> Upon expiration of the maximum length of the leave of absence which was due to the employee's own serious health condition, if an employee is still unable to return to work with no restrictions which would prevent the employee from performing the essential functions of his or her job with a reasonable accommodation employment is terminated if the employee has exhausted all leaves that are available to him or her under these policies.

Section 43.12 Workers Compensation. An employee who is absent from work for more than three (3) consecutive days due to a condition covered by Workers Compensation automatically will be considered to be on family and medical leave of absence beginning on the first day of such absence and subject to the provisions of this section. Any leave of absence due to a condition covered by workers compensation will run concurrently with any family and medical leave available to the employee.

An employee may use up to *five* (5) days of paid vacation leave, paid personal leave and paid extended sick leave accrual per continuous absence which is due to an illness or injury that is compensable under the Indiana Workers Compensation law. In the event those days are later covered by the City's Workers Compensation Insurance, the employee will not be permitted to credit those days back to his vacation, personal leave or sick leave accrual bank.

ARTICLE FORTY-FOUR: LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Section 44.01- La	abor Management Committee.	A Labor-Management	Committee will	be formed
throughout the workplace.	The committee will consist of the	Personnel Director (or	designee) and n	o more than
City Initial: DR	56	Ur	nion Initial:	<u> </u>

Date: 12/6

three (3) management people. The Union shall have an equal number, consisting of the Local Union President and up to three (3) people appointed by the President. In addition, the parties may rely on an additional person to give specific testimony on an identified agenda item. These labor/management meetings will be held every three (3) months, except on mutual agreement by the parties. The meetings shall be no more than one and one-half (1 1/2) hours in length unless mutually agreed upon by the parties. Union members shall suffer no loss of pay for attendance to such meetings. Labor/management meetings may be called for serious safety problems at any time. Items to be discussed will be outlined in an agenda to be prepared prior to the meeting and distributed to members of the committee. These items will be collected from both sides by the Chairman. The meeting will be alternately chaired by management and labor. The chair of the meeting will be responsible for preparation and distribution of the agenda for that meeting. It is to be understood that no grievance or negotiable items contained in this Agreement are to be discussed. A member of the side chairing the meeting will be responsible for a report of the meeting. This report need not be verbatim. Copies of these reports are to be initialed by each side and retained for future reference.

ARTICLE FORTY-FIVE: MISCELLANEOUS

Section 45.01 Bulletin Boards. The City shall furnish in each building an area for the Union to keep employees informed of official matters relating to the general welfare of the employees which may include notices of the Union, such as social affairs of the Union, Union meetings, Union elections, and reports of policies of the Union.

Only an authorized union representative may post or remove Union notices and shall initial material to be posted in the Union area.

Section 45.02 Announcements. Neither the Union nor the City shall post notices, announcements, or other materials which contain discriminatory, sexual or libelous statements. Further, neither the Union nor the City shall post endorsements of political candidates. The Union agrees that it will not post or display any items which are unfavorable to promoting harmony between the City and the Union.

Section 45.03 Copies of This Agreement. The City, at its cost and expense shall give present and future bargaining unit employees one (1) copy of this Agreement.

Section 44.04 Substance Abuse. The City and Union agree to use their best efforts to enter into a written memorandum of understanding concerning substance abuse and drug testing.

Section 45.05 Clean-Up and Work Separation Time. All bargaining unit employees assigned vehicles or heavy equipment shall be permitted a five (5) minute prior of clean-up time abutting the start of their lunch period, and fifteen (15) minutes of clean-pup time abutting the end of their shift.

Section 45.06 Vehicle Assignment. All bargaining unit employees assigned vehicles or heavy equipment within their job assignment shall be assigned said vehicle or heavy equipment on a seniority basis within their job assignment, most senior first.

City Initial: DR

Date: 12/7

57

Union Initial: \(\begin{align*} \begin{align*} \lambda & \lambda

ARTICLE FORTY-SIX: TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

Section 46.01 Term; Termination. This Agreement shall be effective from January 1, 2021, and shall continue in full force and effect until midnight, December 31, 2023, and from year to year thereafter, unless at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the aforesaid date, or prior to any subsequent annual anniversary date thereafter, either party gives to the other written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, of its desire to renegotiate this Agreement. In the event such notice is given, renegotiations shall begin no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the notification is given. Provided, however, so that negotiations can be complete in advance of the budget-making process, the parties agree to commence negotiations by July 1, 2023.

<u>Section 46.02 Notice.</u> The written notice required by Section 45.01 shall be mailed to the receiving party at the following address, or to such other address as may be specified by the receiving party in a prior written notice to the other party:

(a) To the City:

Mayor, City of Muncie City Hall 300 North High Street Muncie, Indiana 47305

(b) To the Union:

AFSCME Council 62 1424 North Pennsylvania Indianapolis, Indiana 46202-2486

Such notice shall be effective only if postmarked on or before midnight of the last day of giving of the notice as set forth in Section 45.01.

ARTICLE FORTY-SEVEN: SEVERANCE BENEFITS

The City shall grant 35 working days toward an employee's retirement bank at 20 years of service, and 45 working days at 30 years of service.

Employees may bank one (1) day per year (anniversary date to anniversary date) of 'good days' for no use of personal time for time off due to illness to be used for Retirement Severance Benefits. Supervisors are required to fill out a PI form on the employee's anniversary date specifying that the employee is to be awarded a 'good day' for no illness related call-ins. The PI form should be submitted to the HR Department.

Employees who submit their written notice of retirement will receive payment for their remaining time (severance days, unused vacation time for the calendar year, unused personal time for the calendar year, and accrued 'good days'). The City of Muncie may choose to pay out:

1) To be paid in one lump sum payment

2) To be paid in bi-weekly payments until payout is exhausted

City Initial:	58	Union Initial: 1
Date:(2/7		Date: <u>/2-6</u>

No payout of retirement severance benefits will exceed a sum of 5 months and two weeks, or 110 total work days, or 880 hours. Employees who have accrued vacation on Section 20.02 prior to December 31, 2005 will be paid out their accumulated vacation in addition to any retirement severance benefits.

An employee who has been involuntarily terminated is not entitled to severance benefits.

City Initial: DR

Date: 12/7

59

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as set forth below on December , 2020.

AFSCME COUNCIL 962 LOCAL 3656

By:

Jay Wallow

By: Description Local 266

By: Vice President Local 8656

CITY OF MUNCIE, INDIANA

By: Dan Ridenour, Mayor

By: Nancy Larson/Human Resources Director

By: Trent Convay City Controller

By: Mark Ervin, City Attorney

By: Richard M. Ivy, City Council Representative

City Initial:

Date: 12/7

Union Initial: __*j*___

60

Date: 12-6